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Introduction
This research manual is intended to provide practical assistance and guidance to SOMO researchers
in setting up and conducting their research. As such, it is intended to increase the efficiency of
research projects and maintain a high level of research quality. The manual draws on current SOMO
practices and experiences, combined with secondary material (e.g. research handbooks). SOMO’s
research, in contrast to traditional academic research, is characteristically value-driven and actionoriented. In other words, SOMO’s research is designed and executed with a specific objective for
sustainable societal change in mind.
This characteristic of SOMO’s research is anchored in SOMO’s mission:
“SOMO strives toward global economic development that is sustainable and fair.
and toward the elimination of the structural causes of poverty, environmental
problems, exploitation and inequality. Through research targeted at achieving
sustainable change and strengthening cooperation, SOMO seeks to offer social
organisations worldwide, especially those in developing countries, the
opportunity to promote sustainable alternatives and to provide a counterweight to
unsustainable strategies and practices of multinational corporations.
In addition to emphasising the aim toward societal change, SOMO’s mission highlights the primary
focus of SOMO research: the policies and practices of multinational corporations (MNCs) worldwide.
This unique research focus makes it relevant and necessary to adapt existing research practices and
develop new methods. This manual responds to this need.
The manual is specifically intended to be practical, and thus includes many tips, checklists, examples
and references to SOMO templates. Whenever possible or relevant, the text refers to helpful
resources by means of hyperlinks and annexes.
Please note that this manual is intended for internal purposes only, Since the manual provides indepth insight into the strategies and methods used by SOMO, circulation of the content of this guide
should be approached very carefully out of competition concerns. That said, parts of this manual can
be very useful to share with research partners in specific cases after consultation with SOMO staff.

Reader’s guide
In addition to this introduction, the manual consist of five modules. Each module concludes with a
checklist that is meant to provide researchers with a practical and efficient tool to assess whether
relevant research steps and choices have been considered. Furthermore, each module includes
references to further guidance, templates, and examples by means of hyperlinks and annexes. The
following modules are included:
1.

The ‘Research Planning and Design’ module is the core module and comprises a
comprehensive inventory of aspects to be considered in a research project, with a brief
description of each aspect. At the outset of every research project, it is useful to follow the
Planning and Design checklist to avoid delays and annoyances later in the research process.
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2.
3.

4.

5.

6.

This module in turn refers to other modules that researchers may want to consult when
seeking more specific guidance.
The ‘Research Quality’ module provides insight into the quality principles that SOMO seeks to
uphold and which are crucial in defending our research findings to critics.
The ‘Research Ethics’ module deals with a number of ethical issues that must be considered
in all research conducted by SOMO or its partners. While ethics are an important aspect in all
types of research, ethical considerations are of particular importance for research deals with
vulnerable or deprived groups, which is often the case in SOMO’s work. These groups, as well
as local researchers, the companies under investigation, and other stakeholders, potentially
face negative consequences as a result of the research.
The module on ‘Research Types’ provides more in-depth insight into the different types of
research that SOMO conducts. Although not all types can be clearly distinguished and, in
practice, several types are often combined, the research type overview should be helpful in
considering the different research approaches and perspectives that are available within our
research field.
The ‘Research Methods and Techniques’ module describes the methods and techniques that
SOMO most often uses and provides practical tools and tips to apply these methods and
techniques.
The ‘Evaluation’ module provides practical guidance on how to arrange a research evaluation
in such a way that lessons are drawn and integrated in follow-up projects.
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Module 1: Research Planning and Design
Introduction
A researcher follows certain general research stages and principles when setting up and conducting
research projects. The most important of these are briefly mentioned in this chapter and elaborated in
the remainder of this manual. Researchers should bear in mind that these elements are tools to
enhance the quality and effectiveness of the research.

The research plan: Designing a research project
Ideally, the research process should contain several stages that are conducted or taken into
consideration in a systematic way. These stages are depicted in Error! Reference source not found.
below. It must be noted that the nature of this cycle ought to be reflective and iterative; at every stage
the researcher must critically look at the steps already taken and still planned and adjust the process if
required. More simplified models can be found in
Table 2.
Table 1: Roadmap for a research project

Research Ethics

Project management

Defining the research problems and objectives, including follow-up
Formulate preliminary research questions
Preliminary inquiry: Assessing the knowledge gap
Reformulate research questions
Select research types and methods
Data collection
Data Analysis
Reporting
Evaluation and follow up activities

Keeping a logbook of activities: It can be very helpful to keep a logbook of activities, which provides
an overview and a timeline of the research. Sometimes it can take several months between a
particular interview with a community member or worker and the publication of the research findings.
As situations may change over time, it is important to note when information was obtained, especially
when conducting critical corporate research to which MNCs may respond hostilely (by, for example,
attempting to discredit the research methods or findings). In such cases, a logbook is useful for
revisiting the data collection for more details or to prove the credibility of the findings. For an example
of a logbook of activities, see the Annex.
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Table 2: Action Research Cycle – Three different models

1

Stage

Sagor Model

Calhoun Model

Kemmis & McTaggart
Model

1

Problem Formulation

Selecting the Area of Focus

Planning

2

Data Collection

Collecting Data

Acting

3

Data Analysis

Observing

Organizing Data

4

Reporting of Results

Analyzing and Interpreting Data

Reflecting

5

Action Planning

Taking Action

Re-planning

Defining the research problem and objectives
In order for research to be effective and useful for civil society organisations, it should address a
specific problem or concern, target groups and expected outcomes and outputs. Problems can be
defined in many ways:






The creek near my community is polluted. There is some sort of foam floating on the water.
Many workers at my factory work 60 to 70 hours a week. Is this in accordance with national
law and international regulations?
The company I work for does not at allow any union activity. Attempts to organize workers are
constantly thwarted. How can this issue be addressed?
A local company near my community makes use of child labour. How can I check if this
company supplies large multinationals and start a campaign?

All research starts with a question or a problem, and is often part of a broader plan in which follow up
strategies could already be identified.
Before starting a research project, the objectives of the research should be clearly and precisely
defined. There are multiple reasons for clearly stated aims and objectives, including:





To avoid spending too much time on gathering interesting, but not fully relevant contextual
information.
To communicate about the research with outsiders. The outside world should be able to
correctly understand the purpose of the research from the outset.
It provides the basis for a possible evaluation of whether the research project has been
successful

Any fellow researchers or co-authors should be engaged in the process of defining the problem and
formulating clear research questions. In addition, in order to guarantee the largest possible impact of
your research, it is important to involve your organization’s communication staff (if you have one) as
early in the research process as possible to discuss the purpose and objectives of the research, the
target group(s), expected outputs and outcomes, and your expectations of the communications staff.
1

B.L. Brown, Improving Teaching Practices through Action Research, April 5, 2002
Blacksburg, Virginia, < http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.9.6964&rep=rep1&type=pdf> (July 2010)
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When undertaking a research project that involves external parties, it is necessary to develop a terms
of reference (TOR), which clearly outlines the objectives of the research and the division of labour.
Furthermore, depending on the aim and the scope of the research, it is a good idea to consult as
many relevant stakeholders as possible.

Developing a frame of reference
If the research you are undertaking involves an evaluative component, which is often the case in the
corporate research conducted by SOMO, it is important to develop a frame of reference with which to
review and interpret the findings. For example, it can be difficult to make sense of a company’s CSR
policy without having information about the CSR policies of competitors, industry standards,
governmental norms and regulations, NGO reports and views and company-specific issues.
Without being overly complex, a frame of reference for analysis draws on a variety of sources to
shape and make sense of specific findings or experiences. It is the context or viewpoint constructed
from specific and external sources, supplemented with your own presumptions or observations. The
validity of the conclusions or judgements is increased if the frame of reference is based on
authoritative external sources and is transparent and objective.
Examples
When researching the functioning of European works councils (EWCs) and CSR at specific European
energy companies, an analysis of company-specific (CSR and EWC) documents will not be sufficient.
It is important to develop a frame of reference for analysis that takes into account at least:
 The main characteristics of the European energy sector
 Critical issues for CSR in the energy sector (indicators from the existing literature often
underlie CSR policies in a given sector)
 CSR norms and standards in the sector (e.g. best practices, sectoral codes)
 Analysis of the legal background and functioning of the EWCs and EWC agreements of the
companies in question.
The CSR company analysis (see Annex XX)
 Risk Analysis: Based on the information in a company profile, the results of an analysis of the
CSR issues in the specific sector and the scan on negative publicity, an inventory can be
made of all doubtful practices the company has been engaged in and what the company’s
reaction to allegations put forth by environmental, labour and human rights organisations has
been.
 Policy Analysis: Researchers examine how the company’s policies relate to international
standards (such as the ILO Conventions) and national laws. What is the quality of the CSR
policy?
 Analysis of Policy Implementation: At what stage or level is the company in the
implementation of its CSR policy?

Incorporating follow-up strategies
Research projects as described in this manual typically serve societal change objectives and, as such,
are often part of larger projects. Ideally, these projects do not end with the publication of a report, but,
for example, support the work of civil society organisations or trade unions. For this to happen, the
research project needs to be followed up by an action programme drawn up by the NGO or trade
union working on the project and the relevant organisations in the field. It is thus important to involve
all relevant organisations in the countries concerned throughout the entire research cycle to make
8

sure that the research can be followed up with actions that will actually improve the situation for those
concerned. Constant feedback is necessary both for the research and for the follow-up program.
Furthermore, it is important that those that have participated in the research be informed and
consulted on the results and the possible plan of action by the relevant organisations in their country.
Follow-up strategies are connected to particular research types and elements. There is of course no
silver bullet for achieving specific outcomes, but the chances of achieving certain results are likely to
increase when they are embedded in the research cycle and anticipated beforehand. Way in which
research can be used in follow-up strategies include:







Campaigning against companies through urgent appeals or filling an OECD Guidelines
complaint. The research will be used by NGOs and trade unions to start or continue a
particular campaign directed towards a specific company, the industry/sector or the
government. When campaigning is done based on the research, it is important to feedback
changes in the situation researched
Identifying the roles and relative power of different actors in a production chain in order to
target the right actor in a campaign and to identify the pressure points
Supporting campaigns at the industry level or starting up a multi-stakeholder initiative.
Influencing the regulatory framework in which the MNC operates or compelling companies to
adhere to certain laws and/or international normative standards.

Formulating preliminary research questions
One of the most important (and often difficult) parts of doing research is asking the right questions.
This is because questions need to be answerable – they cannot be too broad or too general, as this
will probably deliver a disappointing result. It is better to answer a smaller, more specific question than
to have to leave a large question unanswered. Research questions should thus be bound to certain
times, places and conditions.
TIP: For a stylized exercise that can help you figure out if a research question is practical
and achievable, follow this link: http://tinyurl.com/RQSOMO
Research questions specify what needs to be investigated, i.e. the specific elements that are going to
be observed or measured. Research questions are derived from the problems identified and the goals
of the research project and have multiple functions. For example, research questions:








Guide the literature review
Guide decisions about the research design
Guide the methods and means of data collection
Guide the analysis of data
Guide how data and analysis are communicated
2
Prevent unnecessary directions and tangents

Preliminary research questions that are formulated at the start of the project should be revised and
sharpened during the course of the project, especially after the initial literature review, which is
described in the following section. In the preliminary research phase, the research question may
2

A. Bryman, Social Research Methods 3rd ed.; 2008, Oxford: Oxford University Press
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remain broad, but the following two research stages should help narrow it down.

Conducting a literature review: Assessing the knowledge gap
For answering most research questions, the starting point is to find out what is (publicly) known about
the topic under investigation. Reviewing the existing literature is often called the mother of the
research question. Knowledge gaps can be assessed by reviewing existing literature and available
information, but also by talking to experts in the field or stakeholders who have knowledge of the
research subject. The literature review serves multiple purposes. It assists in gaining a better
understanding of what is already known about the subject. This, in turn, can help focus the research
questions and avoid duplication of research.
Even more importantly, a literature review and a knowledge gap assessment helps to improve the
research design, the methods of data collection, the analysis of the data and eventually solving the
initial problems identified. For example, if the chosen topic is the involvement of a company in an
environmental problem, the preliminary search could focus on the company’s policies and record of
accomplishment regarding environmental issues, general and scientific background information about
the issue at stake and involvement of the corporate sector, NGOs currently active within the field, etc.

Reformulating the research questions
Based on the preliminary inquiry, the initial research questions can be reformulated in order to include
the precise details of what needs to be investigated. To redefine your research question, you need to
return to your problem analysis and your follow-up or advocacy strategy. When formulating a research
3
questions, take into account the following considerations:







Be clear: Research questions must be understandable to you and to others.
Be precise:. The research questions should be neither too broad nor too narrow.
Be researchable: They should be translatable into a research design, so that data may be
collected in relation to them. This means that vague or abstract terms are unlikely to be
suitable.
Connect with established theory, research or field work: Find literature on which you can
draw to help illuminate how your research questions should be approached. Even if you find a
topic that has been scarcely addressed, it is unlikely that there will be no relevant literature (for
example, on related or parallel topics). Making connections with theory and research will also
allow you to show how your research has made a contribution to the academic or practical
discourse in the field of study.

It can be helpful to derive some (but not too many) sub-questions from the primary research question.
This should be done in a way that the answers to these sub-questions are in fact the answer to a part
of the central question, and not the answer to a different question. The following example
demonstrates this principle:
Primary research question:

What are the similarities and differences between the CSR policies of Unilever and Sara Lee?
3

Institute of International Studies’ Online Dissertation Proposal Workshop, 2001 Regents of the University of California,
<http://geography.uoregon.edu/amarcus/geog620/Readings/handout-researech.pdf>, (July 2010)
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Research sub-questions:

What defines a CSR policy?

What are the CSR policies of Unilever?

What are the CSR policies of Sara Lee?

Ensuring research quality
Research that is published should be well thought through and well-documented in order to ensure a
high level of quality, consistency and verifiability. Several different aspects are part of the quality
control during research, including:







Basic quality criteria, including include accuracy, reliability, validity and objectivity, need to be
taken into account.
Consider the reliability, credibility, accuracy of sources.
Accurate and consistent referencing of sources, regardless of which referencing style is used,
is crucial.
Documentation of sources and research steps ensure the reliability and credibility of the
research project.
When specific companies are included as research objects, it is strongly advised to provide
them the opportunity to respond to draft passages of the research report that directly relate to
the company. This serves to avoid publishing inaccuracies, and may even generate additional
useful information.

More elaborate guidance on research quality is provided in Module 3.

Research ethics
Ethical considerations should be part of every phase of the research project, from the initial
formulation of the research question to the evaluation of the outcomes. While ethics are an important
aspect of all types of research, they are of particular importance for the type of research described in
this manual, which often deals with vulnerable or deprived groups.
Important principles in safeguarding research ethics include:

Develop clear research goals that ensure that the research will benefit the target groups (e.g.
workers, communities, etc) of the research and that there will be sufficient follow-up.

Manage expectations. Clearly explain the aim of the research and avoid making promises you
will be unable to keep.

Take into account the safety of researchers. Include personal safety considerations in the
research design, and avoid using follow-up strategies that put researchers at risk.

Consider the safety of respondents, and ensure confidentiality and protection of sources by,
for example, conducting interviews in a safe environment, making all names and other
personal information anonymous. Only use the names of participants after they have given
informed written consent.

For all research projects, participants should give their informed written consent to taking part
in the project.

Be aware that the use of photographs might not only be culturally sensitive, but also endanger
the individuals pictured. The proper use of photographic materials has been debated among
NGOs and several organisations have their internal policies.

Be sensitive of power relations and do not abuse your own power or status to gain knowledge.
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More elaborate guidance on research ethics is provided in Module 4.

Research types
Research on multinationals consists of a several basic research types that may be chosen or
combined depending on the purpose of the project. The research types are characterized by their
point of departure. For example, is your primary concern 1) a concrete problem that a MNC is causing,
2) a product marketed by an MNC, 3) a particular MNC, 4) an entire industrial sector or 5) the
regulatory framework in which an MNC operates. Based on your answer to this question, the following
types of research may be appropriate:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Controversial case research
Value chain research (including supply chain research)
Company research
Sector studies
Regulatory framework analysis.

Each research type typically consists of a number of standard elements that can be included in the
research. For example, for company research, the description of a company’s business operations, its
holding structure, and its CSR policies are standard elements.
Table 3: Research types and purposes
Research types
Controversial case
research

Starting point
Concrete
problem

Purpose
To address a concrete problem.

Value chain
research (including
supply chain
research)

Specific product

To identify the roles and relative
power of different actors in a
production chain to identify
pressure points and target the
correct actor in a campaign

Company research

Company

Sector study

Sector

Regulatory
framework analysis

Binding
regulatory
framework

To identify the structure,
policies, practices and
operations of a specific
company.
To provide background for
company research, to support
campaigns at industry level or to
start up multi-stakeholder
initiatives.
To influence the regulatory
framework in which the MNC
operates, to ensure companies
are abiding by relevant laws.

Elements
Documenting the problem; research
on company operations,
responsibilities and CSR policies;
overview of relevant domestic and
international laws and standards
Supply chain relationships; buying
practices; sector trends in supply
chain management; company
strategies in supply chain
management; market structure;
market shares
General company profile, company
CSR profile, company risk
assessment, company tax
assessment, benchmarking.
General sector profile, CSR sector
profile.

Overview of relevant local and
international laws and standards

Source: SOMO

More elaborate guidance on research types is provided in Module 5.
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Research methods
Before choosing methods and techniques to collect data, it is important to consider the following
aspects, which will determine what methods are most suitable for your research:





The problem you examining and the research question you want to answer,
The type of information/data you need to collect, and
The resources (e.g. time, people, skills, money) you need and the resources you actually have
at your disposal.

The choice of your research method and data collection technique is important. This choice affects the
type of information you will collect and therefore the findings of your research, given that the research
findings can vary greatly depending on how the research is carried out.
There are several distinctions used to categorize research methodologies including:

Quantitative vs. qualitative,

Empirical vs., non-empirical, and

Participatory vs. non-participatory.
The above divisions do not imply an either-or choice, but can be interpreted as a sliding scale or
spectrum. In addition , it is often possible to combine methods and strategies to get the data you need
to answer your question.
More elaborate guidance on research types is provided in Module 6.

Data analysis
After the data, be it transcriptions of workers interviews or financial data, is collected, it needs to be
analysed. Data analysis provides the researcher the chance to seriously assess and interpret the
findings. In order to do this, the data must be organized in a coherent manner. For example, numerical
(quantitative) information can be grouped; descriptive (qualitative) information summarized and trends
identified. Some basics of analysing data are provided here:
Creating your analysis plan: Even if the evaluation is well-planned and excellent instruments and data
collection plans have been designed, close attention needs to be paid to planning the data
analysis, both before and during data collection. It is important that you never start collecting
data until you know how you will analyse your data and have tested out the data collection
instruments and analysis plan.
Ensuring adequate analysis of the data: Errors can creep into the analyses that might limit the value of
the evaluation. To prevent this:
Supervise data collection and correct any errors you may find,
Process the data as they come in, and
Carry out simple analyses that answer your research questions.
Interpreting your findings: After you have the findings from your analysis, you will need to describe
what they mean. This will be particularly challenging if the findings are different than you
expected. You will need to take certain actions to interpret your findings so that they make
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sense to your stakeholders, and the programme. Remember that the findings do not mean
4
anything by themselves!
TIP: Since data analysis varies significantly from research to research. For more guidance,
check the following sources: Is something missing here???

Communicating your findings and analysis: report writing
Communicating about your findings and analysis is an essential element of research. In addition to
reporting on the research findings, it is also important to report about the research process, including
research methods, obstacles faced, any deviations from the original research plan, etc.
The reporting format depends on the information needs of the target groups of the research. Of key
importance is to keep in mind for whom the report is intended and how the information needs of the
target groups can be served in the best possible way. Although there is no fixed reporting format,
research reports generally include at least the following elements:

Title page

Table of contents

Summary of main findings

Chapter I – Introductory paragraphs, description of the problem, aims/objectives, purpose and
significance, target groups research questions and/or hypotheses

Chapter II – Background/context analysis, review of existing knowledge, definition of terms

Chapter III – Methodology, procedure and time frame, validity and reliability, scope and
limitations

Chapter IV – Results/findings

Discussion/analysis

Chapter V – Conclusions and recommendations

References

Appendices
Finally, when writing up research, make sure that the report adheres to the following criteria:

Report structure is clear and logical

Context is identified and key themes are logically presented and cross-referenced

Writing style is appropriate for the report’s objective and target audience

Citations and full references are given for all sources referred to or consulted

Tables, diagrams and other illustrations are used effectively

Spelling, grammar and use of punctuation are correct

5

SOMO specific:
-Checklist publiceren (has been translated)

4

5

STEPS toolkit, Module 7 Analyzing Data,
<http://www.stepstoolkit.org/index.php?option=com_courses&task=ShowModule&Module=8&type=T&CatId=55&Itemid=143
&lang=en> (August 2010)
Checklist – Research Project Management, data of publication and author unknown,
<http://www.iom.int/jahia/webdav/site/myjahiasite/shared/shared/mainsite/published_docs/brochures_and_info_sheets/Traini
ng_Research_Checklist.pdf> (July 2010)
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Evaluation
At SOMO, evaluations take place at project level and not (only) at research level, since research is
often one element in a broader project, albeit an important one. As part of SOMO’s primary process,
an evaluation should be conducted at the end of every project. A checklist for such an evaluation,
including research specific element, can be found here
In case the project members require a more thorough research evaluation, a checklist is provided in
module 6 of this manual. Preferably, fill in the checklist with two or more members of the
research/project team.

Project organization and administration
SOMO project management
[verwijzing toevoegen naar werkwijzer en ‘primair proces’ (= o.a. project management) handleiding]

15
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Module 2: Research Quality
Introduction
Research that is published should be well thought out and well documented in order to ensure a high
level of quality, consistency and verifiability. In order to do so, the research steps below are
recommended, with the acknowledgement that the particular circumstances of each research project
are likely to differ.
Quality control during the research process comprises several different aspects, beginning with a clear
research plan that outlines the research steps, sets a timeframe for each phase and step and
identifies the resources needed. Module 1 provides an example of how to set up a research plan. After
setting up your research plan, further measures to ensure the quality of your research include keeping
a logbook of activities during the research, properly diversifying and verifying your sources, and
allowing the companies that are the subject of the research to review a draft before publication.
This chapter will describe a number of basic quality criteria for the research methodology, design and
conclusions. The following sections describe what needs to be considered regarding the reliability of
sources and how these sources need to be referenced. Next, the steps to document the research
process are described. The final section describes SOMO’s approach to company review of the
findings.

Basic quality criteria
SOMO-style critical, action-oriented research is generally carefully examined and evaluated by many
people and may be criticised by those who do not like the conclusions. If the research is to be taken
seriously, and particularly if it is to serve as the basis for action, it needs to be of high quality. There
are a number of scientific concepts that can be used as indicators for quality in both quantitative and
qualitative research.
First of all, the research needs to be accurate. This means that the right questions have been asked
to merit the drawn conclusions. Both the overall research question and all the sub-questions should be
posed in such a way that they provide the type of information you are looking for and form a solid
basis for your conclusions. Secondly, the answers to these questions should be precise and contain
sufficient detail. If the research questions are answered vaguely or imprecisely, the conclusions of the
research are weakened. Finally, you need to ensure that the answers collected are true, and that no
conclusion is based on false information.
All these points relate to the concepts of reliability and validity. Good research is based on reliable
methods. Methods are reliable when they are consistent and do not distort the findings of the
research. This means that using the same data and methods, the same conclusions should be drawn
every time the research is repeated. Research is valid when the data collected and the analysis made
are sufficient to answer the research question. This means that the quality and quantity of the data, as
well as the accuracy of the analysis, are good enough to be confident that the conclusions are true.
Finally, objectivity means that the researcher was not biased in any way. This means that the
personal beliefs of the researcher did not affect the research questions, the data collection and
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analysis or the drawn conclusions. It also means that the researcher was not influenced by anything or
anyone in such a way that it distorted the conclusions. It is important to stress that while SOMO’s
research is action-based and aims to achieve more than merely contributing to a scientific body of
knowledge, this aim should not affect the objectivity of the research process.

Qualitative research
The above concepts have been proven to be more suitable for quantitative research than for
qualitative research, which comprises a large portion of the research conducted by SOMO and
described in this manual. An alternative set of quality criteria, used in particular for qualitative
research, fall under the umbrella-term trustworthiness. Trustworthiness is composed of four
elements: credibility, transferability, dependability and confirmability.








Credibility means that the findings of your research are believable from the point of view of
the participant in the research.
Transferability refers to the extent to which your findings can be generalised or transferred to
other contexts or settings. You can increase the transferability of your research by doing a
thorough job of describing the context in which the research took place. The person who
wishes to “transfer” the results to a different context is then responsible for making the
judgment of how sensible that is.
Dependability emphasizes the need for the researcher to account for the ever-changing
context within which research occurs. The researcher thus needs to keep a careful record of
the changes that happened during the research process, and how these changes affected the
way the research was done.
Confirmability refers to the degree to which the results can be confirmed or corroborated by
others. In general, a simple test of confirmability is check whether the research participants
agree that what you have said is true.

SOMO specific:
Before any SOMO report is published, the publication checklist needs to be filled out. This checklist has a
procedural as well as a quality assurance component. The checklist serves to minimize the risks for SOMO when
reports are published, and it is mandatory for all SOMO reports that make it into the public domain. The checklist
can be downloaded from the intranet via this link: http://somointra.evenkijken.nu/werkwijzer/3.-communicatieinformatievoorziening/3.4.4-checklist-publiceren-2/view

Reliability of sources
An important element of research quality is that conclusions be based on reliable sources of
information. Not all sources are equally reliable, and unreliable information can significantly diminish
the quality of the research. For example, the Internet, while providing access to a wealth of reliable
sources, also contains countless sources that are not reliable. In a similar sense, not all the
participants that are interviewed as part of field research are equally reliable. Some individuals may
have an interest in influencing the outcomes of the research. Although there is no 100% guarantor of
reliability, the CARS approach is a technique to check and enhance the reliability of sources and a
structured way of collecting a number of indicators for reliability. CARS stands for Credibility,
Accuracy, Reasonableness and Support and is elaborated below. Please note that these elements
should serve as a general guidance for reliability considerations, and that problems arising from
unreliable sources should be addressed with the researchers involved in the project. Concrete actions
are dependent on the specifics of the situation.
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Credibility of sources refers to whether a source is believable or not. For example, this can relate to
the interviewee’s degree of knowledge on the research subject , the credentials of the author of a
secondary source or the public reviews of an online article.
Accuracy refers to the actual correctness of the information. This relates to whether the information is
up to date, factual, detailed exact and comprehensive.
Reasonableness can be determined by examining the information for fairness, objectivity, and
consistency. For example, campaign organisations that do not base their actions on solid research
might make statements that are subjectively influenced by their underlying interests. Similarly, a CSR
report of a company will often frame the company in a subjectively positive light.
Support basically refers to whether information is corroborated by additional sources. This in turn
touches on the broader concept of triangulation, which deals with using more than one source to
confirm your conclusions. If information is supported or corroborated by multiple sources, a conclusion
based on the information is more valid. If one source contradicts the outcomes of another source, it
might be necessary to review your conclusions or be more cautious in your claims.

Referencing sources
It is absolutely essential that all sources of information used in a report be properly and consistently
identified and referenced. Thorough referencing allows the researcher to underpin statements and
conclusions and allows readers to find the original source should doubt arise. Source references also
enable a more nuanced interpretation of a report, and references to reliable sources result in higher
credibility. As a general rule of thumb, a research report should contain at least one source reference
in every paragraph! Tables and graphs should be accompanied by a reference to the source(s) of the
data. Recall that removing double-cited sources just prior to publication is much easier than having to
go back and re-identifying the source of a disputed piece of information. Therefore, remember to cite
systematically throughout the research and writing process – there can never be too many references
in a draft report!
There are many perfectly good systems/styles for referencing sources. To make a report for the
general public easier to read, endnotes can be used instead of footnotes. Endnotes may be places
either at the end of each chapter or at the end of the whole report and should be numbered by
chapter. Ultimately, it does not matter which style you choose, as long as your system mentions all
appropriate source reference data and you use the system consistently. SOMO has chosen to use the
Chicago style reference system, which you can download via internet (search: ‘Chicago Manual Style
of Reference 2009’)
If a source is accessible both electronically and in hard copy, a reference to the electronic document
is preferred if it is publicly accessible via Internet. Always refer to the original source if available, and
make the references as specific and complete as possible. If any elements of the source are unknown,
consider the following:

If a source has an unknown author, consider again whether it is useful and reliable. If so,
either 1) mention the organization or company that issued or wrote the source and whose view
is represented, or 2) record the author as “Unknown author”.

If a source has an unknown publisher, either 1) refer to the electronic version on a website,
or 2) mention the organization or company that issued or written the document and whose
view is represented.

If a source is of an unknown date, mention “no date” and if it is an electronic source, mention
the date of retrieval.
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Documenting the research process
To enhance the accountability of the research project and the verifiability of the facts presented, it is
important to document all research steps in a way that they can be easily retrieved at a later stage.
These steps include saving of all secondary sources used, keeping a log of contacts with company
representatives, employees or other participants in the research, and documenting all data collection
activities undertaken.
Extra care should be taken in documenting secondary sources found on the Internet, as web pages
might disappear or no longer be accessible, leaving your source references unverifiable. To avoid this
from happening and to document all secondary sources, save all electronic sources on a disk. Web
pages can be saved either as a single file or as PDF. This is further explained in Module 6 of this
manual. SOMO requests that partner organisations that do research on behalf of SOMO, or that is
used in SOMO publications, provide copies of all secondary sources used as well as documentation of
all primary sources (e.g. transcripts of interviews).
Primary sources should be documented in such a way that it is easy to retrieve details later. Being
able to go back and see who you have spoken to, when, and what about makes your research more
credible to possible critics (company representatives, press, etc.) after the research is published. A
template for a logbook of all primary source contacts in a research project is provided in Table 4.
Table 4: Fictional logbook for documenting primary source contacts
Date

SOMO contact

11 May 2011

Via VBDO

29 May 2011
02 June 2011

TS (Tim Steinweg)
JW (Joseph Wilde)

03 June 2011

MvH (Mariette van
Huijstee)
RvO (Roos van Os)

05 June 2011

Company contact and
address info
email to CSR department

Description

e-mail to Andre Veneman
e-mail from Andre, CC Gert
Siemons
telephone call with Andre

Letter to company to announce
research and explain process
Preliminary overview was sent
Response about Housten accident
and Asenapine
Additional questions for Organon

email to Andre

Definite report sent

In some cases it is also advisable to document all the steps taken during data collection. This is
particularly relevant for shorter research projects that have limited time spans and for which there is a
greater risk of missing or leaving out certain information. To be able to document the thoroughness of
your research efforts, it is important to give an overview of all the sources that were consulted. These
steps can be described/documented in the template logbook for primary source contacts above, or in
a separate log.

Company review of draft research findings
All companies that are mentioned in a research report should be given the opportunity to review,
respond to and comment on draft passages of research reports that directly relate to the company.
This opportunity to respond serves to avoid publishing inaccuracies and is, as such, an essential
element of ensuring high quality research. However, it is important to note that even if a draft research
report is reviewed by a company or companies, the author of the report remains solely responsible for
the contents of the report.
The review process should begin with a pre-review letter that announces/describes the research and
review process and requests that the correct company contact person for the review be identified. The
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pre-review letter should be sent to the company approximately one to two weeks prior to the start of
the review process. For an example, see Annex ‘Example of Pre Review Letter’.
After the correct company contact person is identified through the pre-review process, a cover letter
and the draft company profile/passage can be sent to that person and the review process initiated. For
an example of a review cover letter, see Annex ‘Example of Cover Letter for the Review Process’. It is
common practice to provide a period of two weeks for companies to respond to the draft. If no reaction
is given within this time period, the researcher can assume that the company has no objections to the
content of the draft. Depending on the length and detail of the draft passage to be reviewed, a
company may need longer than two weeks to respond. If a company requests an extension, and if it
does not conflict with your timing, you can consider granting a longer review time from the beginning.
Make sure you plan the review process in such a way that it will not conflict with your deadlines for
publication.
It is important that the draft company profile/passage only contain information about the specific
company to which the review is addressed, and not about other companies that may be mentioned in
the research. If the research involves more than one company, the researcher will likely need to make
several versions of the draft research report to be sent to each company individually.
If a respondent or company wishes to retract information previously given during the research
process, the researcher may or may not choose to honour this request. If the researcher decides to
publish the information despite the company’s objections, he/she should note in the report that the
company asked that the information be retracted and explain why he/she chose not to do so.. If a
source wishes not to have his/her name associated with the information, it is an option to publish the
information with the source as “Anonymous employer/manager of company XX”. Similarly, it should be
noted that the researcher is not obliged to make all changes suggested by the company during the
review process. If a company suggests a change to the report that the researcher does not agree with,
the researcher may choose to note (in a footnote, for example) that the company’s opinion on this
point differed from the author’s.
A similar review process should be undertaken for non-corporate subjects mentioned in the research
report (e.g. stakeholders that are interviewed) to ensure that they approve of the way their input has
been incorporated into the report and the publishing of the report will not endanger them.
The review process and the responses (or non-responses) of each company should be clearly
described in the report’s methodology section.

Research quality checklist
Table 5 below gives an overview in checklist format of all the quality elements that need to be
considered.
Table 5: Research Quality Checklist
Research Quality Checklist
Has the research followed all the required quality criteria?
Are the conclusions based on triangulated data?
Are all sources properly referenced?
Are all electronic sources saved to disk?
Are all company contacts logged?
Have all data collection activities been described?
Have the companies described in the research been given the opportunity to review the findings?
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Module 3 Research Ethics
Introduction
Ethical considerations should be part of every phase of the research project, from the preliminary
formulation of the research question to the evaluation of the final outcomes. While ethics are an
important aspect of all types of research, they are of particular importance for the type of research
described in this manual, which often deals with vulnerable or deprived groups. These groups, as well
as local researchers, the companies under investigation and other stakeholders, might face negative
consequences as a result of the research..
This module deals with a number of ethical issues that need to be considered in each and every
research project conducted by SOMO or its partners.

Ethical research design and appropriate research goals
The type of action-oriented research that SOMO conducts is founded upon the notion that research
should serve to address information and power asymmetries and to mobilize action against unjust
socio-economic systems. In SOMO’s work, these power asymmetries generally involve the power
imbalance between MNEs on the one hand, and employees, suppliers, communities and other
stakeholders in the Global South on the other hand. SOMO believes that by conducting actionoriented research, these power imbalances can be addressed and those lacking power can be given a
voice. In that sense, SOMO’s type of action-oriented research is in line with participatory ethics, which
might be understood as “an ethical stance against neutrality”, and serve to “challenge the dominant
6
hegemonic paradigm”.
This approach to research creates a number of ethical dilemmas not present in other forms of
research, particularly with regard to the ultimate goal of the research. Whereas in “normal” research,
the ultimate goal is to acquire knowledge, action-oriented research seeks to create positive change
based on knowledge. SOMO’s research topics thus almost inevitably focus on the most vulnerable
groups in society. Working with vulnerable groups brings with it the responsibility to ensure that the
research actually benefits such groups, either directly or indirectly. SOMO researchers are therefore
ethically obliged to design their research in such a way as they feel will be most effective in this sense,
and should incorporate this responsibility in every phase of the research cycle.
Another important ethical implication of SOMO’s research approach is that it is necessary that the
research outcomes be followed up. While SOMO prefers to work with other organisations that can
take on the follow-up campaigns, lobby or dialogues, it is also SOMO’s ethical obligation to ensure
that follow up actually takes place, including when no other organisation is interested in doing so. A
lack of follow up is harmful for researchers and participants who have invested time in gathering
information and can endanger future research projects, as participants might be less willing to
participate if they perceive it to be a waste of time. There is also the danger that actions taken by
companies in response to the research might take unwanted turns if no follow up is given, for example
through retributions of employees that spoke to researchers or empty promises made to community

6

Cahill, Sultana and Pain, “Participatory ethics; Politics, Practices, Institutions.
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members. It is thus important to keep in mind that a research project goes beyond the moment that a
research report is published.

Managing expectations
Often, the approach that SOMO takes inevitably means that the participants in the research will not
directly see or feel the (positive) effects of the research. Because SOMO’s focus on the role and
responsibility of companies can be far removed from the actual issues faced by a local community or
stakeholder group, the resulting changes in corporate policies or practices might only have a marginal
effect on the day-to-day lives of the community/group members. Therefore, it is very important that the
fact that participants in the research process might not personally benefit from the research is clearly
communicated to them from the outset. Researchers must never make false promises or raise
unrealistic expectations. For example, do not tell workers that the research will improve their working
conditions if you cannot guarantee 100% certain that you can deliver on that promise.
Another way to manage expectations is to explain the broader aim of the research. For example,
research on the negative effects of a mining project in one place might be used to avoid the same
consequences elsewhere. Many participants are happy to cooperate in the research if they
understand that it might benefit other people in similar situations, even if it does not benefit them
directly.

Safety of researchers
Research into corporate misconduct can be a risky business. Probing into issues that companies
might prefer to conceal can result in aggressive reactions on many different levels. The types of risks
involved in a research project are difficult to describe here in detail, as they are very specific to the
context, issue and actors involved. This section describes a number of safety issues that SOMO’s
partners have faced in the past and provides a number of general recommendations to avoid or
mitigate these risks.
Companies might take aggressive legal action in an attempt to block publication of sensitive
information or force retraction of damaging statements. In the past, individual researchers have faced
personally-targeted legal proceedings from companies in response to a SOMO publication.
Researchers might even face physical harassment or the threat thereof as a consequence of
collecting sensitive data or speaking to employees without the consent of management. Security
personnel or hired thugs might be used to intimidate researchers in order to dissuade them from
continuing with their research. Research might also take place in areas that are inherently unsafe, for
example due to wars or crime. This obviously can put the personal safety of researchers at risk.
To mitigate such risks, an important step is to anticipate them before the research begins. If research
is conducted in cooperation with a partner organisation, agreement should be reached concerning the
responsibilities of everyone involved. For example, it can be agreed that a local researcher is
responsible for assessing the risks involved, and that SOMO will not continue a research project if it is
clear that the risks are too great.
Secondly, the safety of the research should be considered in the research design, and this should
result in a project that minimizes the risk to personal safety of the researchers involved. This could
have an effect on the choices of data collection methods, as well as for the final publication (e.g. not
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providing the name of the local researcher). How these considerations play out in the research design
is dependent on the specifics of the research.
Finally, the follow up strategies also need to take personal safety into consideration. If there is the
possibility that a public campaign on the basis of the research may put local researchers at more risk
than other strategies (e.g. investor pressure), then the least risky strategies should be chosen.

Safety of respondents/Confidentiality and protection of sources
You must always consider the impact your research may have on the people you engage with. In
many cases, especially those involving field research in the Global South, the research touches on
sensitive issues. Workers may be in danger of punishment or losing their jobs if they speak openly to
researchers. Similarly, communities might face negative consequences in the form of retribution from
local governments or companies for participating in the research. It is important to take all the
necessary precautions to ensure that those you are researching are not put in harm’s way. What these
precautions are depends on the local context of the research and might differ from context to another.
Special care should be taken to create an environment in which participants feel safe enough to
express themselves freely and honestly. For example, worker interviews may best be conducted at the
workers’ homes where the factory management cannot see who has been talking to the researchers,
as this could result in financial or corporal punishment for the workers.
In order to protect interviewees and ensure that they can freely speak about a particular situation,
there should be understanding between the researchers and the interviewees about the use of the
answers given by them and their names. Generally, SOMO does not name any of the workers
concerned in their reports, but does name company managers interviewed. However, in some cases,
managers of MNCs may not want to have their names mentioned in a research report either.
Researchers should offer potential interviewees this possibility, and the procedure for
reporting/publicising the information should be clearly communicated and decided upon with those
involved before the interview takes place. The issue of confidentiality extends beyond the names of
the workers. When keeping an interviewee’s name a secret, the researcher must also make sure that
he/she does not include any information about the interviewee that would make it easy for someone to
find out who the interviewee is.
Researchers should inform any and all interviewees that he/she can choose to remain anonymous
and ask the interviewee to make it clear which he/she prefers. This should also be made clear on
questionnaires if that research method is being used. If an interviewee agrees that his/her name can
be used, the researcher should carefully consider whether the interviewee is agreeing because the
researcher is in a position of power over him/her, or because the interviewee really wants or does not
mind having his/her name used.
In exceptional cases, it might even be necessary to conceal the names of the factories in which
research was carried out. Whether or not the names of the factories can be mentioned in the final
report is something that should be discussed among SOMO and the local researchers, NGOs,
workers and/or trade unions that were involved in the project, as the circumstances may be different in
each situation.
Although these precautions regarding confidentiality are often necessary to protect local researchers
and respondents in the research, it should also be noted that there is a downside. When multinationals
in the North are accused of bad practices in their supply chain, they often, quite understandably, ask
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where the bad practices were found, so that they can check whether the accusations are true or not.
Thus, by not mentioning the names of the companies or factories, the credibility (and verifiability) of
the research is at risk. Therefore, it is important to have a good discussion about the pros and cons of
mentioning sources and places where the research was done. A solution could be to keep the names
confidential until the MNE in question has given clear guarantees that there will be not sanctions
against the factories or the workers. This should always be carefully communicated with all the parties
(including the workers) involved in the research.

Free, prior and informed consent
For all research projects, researchers should obtain the free, prior and informed consent of all
participants in the research project. This concept means that participants should explicitly say that it is
OK to involve them in the research (consent), before the research takes place (prior), while being
told what the positive and negative consequences might be (informed), without any force being
applied to coerce them (free).
Researchers should inform all those involved in or affected by the project what the purpose and aims
of the research are and how the results of the research will be used. Researchers should seek to
report the findings of the research back to the people involved to the greatest extent possible.
When companies are approached in the context of the research, they should be informed about the
purpose, design and follow up of the research, as long as this does not have negative effects on the
reliability of the information or the safety of the researchers. When important information can only be
obtained by not revealing the objectives of the research, exceptions can be made, and the company
can be approached unknowingly. In this case, more than one researcher has to agree to the chosen
approach.
If a researcher wishes to record (either audio or video) interviews, he/she must also obtain the free,
prior and informed consent of the interviewee for this documentation method.

Use of photographs & videos
The use of photos and videos can be useful in terms of documenting and verifying the research
process and results, as well as in follow up strategies and communication. However, the use of
images that portray workers or community members might be culturally sensitive, and/or they may
endanger the people portrayed. The proper use of photographic/video materials has long been
debated among NGOs, and many organisations have internal policies regarding the ethical use of
images.
SOMO’s position is that researchers and communications officers should, wherever possible, use
images that are real and engaging and which preserve the dignity of the people portrayed. As a
general rule, the person who is the subject of the photograph must agree to being photographed, and
must have no objections to the picture being used in the research report or other public material. In
reality, it may not always possible to ask permission. For example, if a researcher is documenting a
protest with thousands activists, he/she simply cannot ask every single protester for permission.
However, if one individual protester or victim is profiled, the researcher should seek to obtain that
individual’s consent to use of the photograph. In addition, photographic/video material should only be
used if some basic background information is also collected, such as the name of the subject, place
and date of the shot, etc. Context details are very important. Finally, the picture should do justice to
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reality and should not be manipulated. Some basic editing using photographic software like Photoshop
or Illustrator is acceptable only if the image still reflects the reality of the situation.
If a researcher chooses to use photographic or video material shot by third parties in a research
publication, he/she must ensure that no copyright is infringed, that the photographer has given explicit
permission to use the picture, and that the photographer is clearly mentioned.

Power over respondents
In many situations, a researcher can find himself/herself in a position of power over
respondents/interviewees in a research project. For example, the researchers may be from the middle
class and well educated, while the respondent/interviewee may be poor and have little education.
Researchers should never abuse their power to get information.
Another way in which the researcher has power over the respondent is that he/she will be
communicating to the outside world about the outcomes of the research. In that sense, the researcher
can be perceived as speaking “on behalf of” the workers or communities. It is important that the
researcher make clear what his/her role is and not take the role of spokesperson unless the
participants have explicitly agreed to this.
SOMO specific:
An imbalance of power can also occur between SOMO and the Southern partner organization involved in the
research project. SOMO should always strive for the most cooperative approach, in which the partner
organization is involved in all steps of the research project, and has an equal voice in deciding the design,
approach and follow up of the research. If possible, the ownership of the research should be shared, and this
should be made clear in all external communications.

Integrity of data collection and analysis
The standards and values that serve as principles for the research SOMO commissions and conducts
are made explicit in the SOMO Code of Conduct. When collecting and analyzing data, there are
several additional ethical considerations that should be kept in mind at all times.
First of all, the data that is collected, whether through first-hand interviews or second-hand documents,
should be used to answer the predetermined research question(s). This is not only an issue of
research quality (as is explained in Module 2) , but also an issue of ethics in the sense that
researchers should not collect irrelevant data. For example, researchers should not ask a worker
about his marital status or sexual orientation if those factors are not crucial for answering the research
questions.
Secondly, the manner in which data is collected should not be illegal in any way and should follow
SOMO’s Code of Conduct. For example, this means that no data should be stolen and no data that
has been stolen by a third party should be used. Finally, when a company is approached for data
collection, for example through a questionnaire, it should always be made clear that this is being done
as part of a research project. Exceptions can be made if the design of the research is such that
informing the company beforehand might hinder the collection of adequate information.
The analysis of the data should be done in a way that is honest and fair, and no data should be
falsified or left out in order to come to conclusions that could not otherwise be made. This means that
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workers who have no complaints or communities that are positive about the role of a company should
be heard and included in the analysis, even if the aim of the research is to uncover controversial
practices of a company. It also means that quotes used to illustrate findings should be literally reported
and should not be made up or altered.

Research ethics checklist
The following table gives an overview in checklist format of the ethical elements that need to be
considered in each research project.
Research Ethics Checklist
Has the research been designed and followed up in such a way that it optimally benefits
workers/communities?
Have expectations been managed properly?
Have safety issues for researchers been properly considered in all phases of the research?
Have safety issues for respondents been properly considered in all phases of the research?
Has free, prior and informed consent been obtained for the use of names of respondents?
Has consent been obtained before video or audio taping and for use of the video/audio material in the
publication?
Have power relations not been abused?
Has data been collected and analyzed with integrity?
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Module 4: Research Types
Introduction
In order to counterbalance the increasing power of MNCs, there is a need for civil society
organizations to monitor the activities of MNCs. Research on multinationals consists of a variety of
elements that one can choose to include in a research project depending on the project’s purpose.
This Module presents various types of research, each of which is characterized by a different point of
departure, whether it be a concrete problem that an MNC is causing, a specific product or service
marketed by an MNC, a particular selected MNC, a specific industrial sector in which MNCs are active
or the regulatory framework in which MNCs operate. Depending on the point of departure, the
following five basic research types may be distinguished:

Controversial case research

Supply chain research (including value chain research)

Company research

Sector studies

Regulatory framework analysis [to be added later]
Each of these types is described in more detail below.

Overview of research types and elements
Each research type typically consists of a number of standard elements that can be included in the
research. For example, for company research, a description of a company’s business operations,
ownership and holding structures, and corporate social responsibility (CSR) policies are standard
elements. Whereas the choice of a research type (based on the point of departure) might be
straightforward, determining the right research elements may be more difficult. There are often
multiple potentially interesting content elements to include in the research design, but covering all of
them may require too much time and resources. Therefore, it is important to determine the right focus
of the research, depending on the precise purpose of the project. A relatively small but well-focussed
research project can be at least as effective as a much larger, more expensive and longer research
project that is not well-focussed.
Table 7 below summarizes the point of departure, Primary purpose and potential research elements of
the different research types. As the overview illustrates, most research elements can occur in more
than one research model.
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Table 7: Overview of research types
Research types
Controversial case
research

Point of
departure
A concrete
problem, e.g.
pollution of a
river killing
fish, or child
labour in a
shoe factory

Primary purpose

Potential research elements

Addressing a concrete
problem.

 Documenting the problem
 Research on company
operations

 CSR issues in operations
 Corporate CSR policy
 Overview of relevant
local/international laws and
standards

Supply chain
research
(including value
chain research)

Specific
product, e.g.
shoes

Identifying the roles and
relative power of different
actors in a production chain to
target the right actor in a
campaign and to identify the
pressure points

 supply chain relationships
 buying practices
 sector trends in supply chain




Company
research

Company, e.g.
Shell, Nike or
CocaCola

Identify the structure, policies,
practices and operations of a
specific company.

Sector study

Sector, e.g. the
garment sector
or the food
sector (can
also be split
into subsector, e.g. the
fresh fruit subsector, the
blue jeans subsector)

To provide supporting
context/background for
company research, campaigns
at the industry/sector level, or
multi-stakeholder initiatives.












management
corporate strategies in supply
chain management
market structure
the size and influence of
various actors along the chain
General company profile
CSR Company profile
company risk assessment
company tax assessment
benchmarking.
General sector profile
CSR sector profile
Critical CSR issues at play in
the sector.
Largest or most important
corporate actors in the sector
Sectoral trends

Source: SOMO.

Controversial case research
Point of departure and purpose
This type of research takes a bottom-up approach. It starts with a concrete problem that may be
related to the operations of one or more multinational corporations. For example, a river is being
polluted, workers in a certain plant are suffering from frequent workplace accidents, or small-scale
farmers are being driven out of business. The purpose of controversial case research is to address the
specific problem that has been identified. In general, the ultimate aim of the research is to empower
the affected communities or individuals to improve their own lives using participatory research
techniques. The results of the research are often used to provide the basis for an urgent appeal or an
OECD Guidelines complaint against a company. Controversial case research can also have as its
point of departure to investigate high-risk corporate activities and/or corporate activities in high risk
countries with the aim of producing new case studies of corporate malpractices.
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Research elements
Controversial case research consists of three fundamental elements: 1) the specific details of the
controversy/violation/problem, 2) the specific role of the company or companies in this
controversy/violation/problem, and 3) identification of the laws and international standards that may
have been breached by the controversy/violation/problem. It is logical to being controversial case
research by documenting the problem and making sure that all research elements are directly related
to the problem at hand. For example, if the problem involves water pollution, a company’s policies and
performance on other CSR issues such as labour standards should not be assessed in detail. If the
problem is caused by one specific company, it is important to describe the company’s operations, the
company’s responsibilities according to international accepted standards, its CSR policy and to
identify potential pressure points, such as consumer actions, However, if the problem is caused by a
group of companies or is related to the sourcing strategies of the international customers, it may be
more useful to focus on industry-level CSR standards or on supply chain relationships.

A methodological consideration for controversial case research
When doing controversial case research, it is important to constantly remind yourselves about why
you are doing it, and who you are doing it for. Given that empowering and supporting local
stakeholders is often the driver behind controversial case research, they should be involved in the
process of defining the problem and coming up with clear research questions. Depending on the aim
and the scope of the research, it is wise to consult as many relevant stakeholders as possible when
you do this.
Controversial case research is characterized by an in-depth investigation (often involving both desk
and field research),of the problem that has been identified or the high-risk corporate activities.
A recent example of controversial case research is the SOMO report ‘Captured by Cotton’ (May 2011)
see: http://somo.nl/publications-nl/Publication_3673-nl/?searchterm=sumangali

Supply chain research
A common definition of a supply chain is:
“The network of organizations that cooperate to transform raw materials into finished goods and
services for consumers.” (OECD)
Figure 1: schematic depiction of a supply chain.

Supply chain research is often combined with value chain research. A value chain can be defined as:
“The entire sequence of activities or parties that provide or receive value in the form of products or
services. Parties that provide value include suppliers, outsourced workers, contractors and others.
Parties that receive value include customers, consumers, clients, members and other users” (ISO
26000).
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A supply chain typically ends with the brand-name company that sales or markets a product or service
st
directly to customers or end-users. One step back in the supply chain are the “1 tier” suppliers, two
nd
steps back are the “2 tier” suppliers, and so on. Supply chain research thus primarily involves finding
out how the supply chain of a particular multinational is organised. “Supply chain mapping” is the effort
to visualise the whole supply chain, from the top or end of the chain (i.e. the final product or service),
back down the chain to the manufacturing locations, and even further back down the chain to the level
of the extraction of the raw materials needed for the product or service.
Figure 2: Example of a supply chain mapping describing first and second tier suppliers of a
laptop computer
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An increasing number of multinationals is outsourcing large parts of their activities, such as the labourintensive manufacturing of goods, to suppliers in low-wage countries. Outsourcing of production takes
place in most manufacturing sectors such as garments, toys, electronics, and household goods. The
supply chains in different sectors have different structures, most of which are extremely complex. For
example, in the garment industry, the supply chain can consist of retailers, agents, middlemen,
suppliers, sub-contractors, sub-sub-contractors, and home workers. Many retailers in the North argue
that the complexity of their supply chain makes it hard for them to influence the conditions under which
the products they sell are being made. However, not only in the view of many NGOs and trade unions,
but also integrated in international standards at the level of the UN, OECD, ISO, etc., outsourcing
should not lead to less responsibility for ensuring decent conditions in a company’s own production
processes. To put it differently: when you outsource production, you insource responsibility. Moreover,
most multinationals have significant control over the production processes in their supply chain in
terms of quality, design, prices and delivery times. Companies call this supply or value chain
management. These same companies should not pretend not to have control over the supply chain
when about it comes to labour, environmental and human rights issues.

Point of departure and purpose
In many cases, supply chain research is done to identify production locations in the supply chains of
multinationals based in the Global North and to interview workers and communities at these locations.
In this top-down approach, it is prudent to start your research with the brand-name companies at the
top or end of the supply chain. Pressure and campaigns by NGOs and trade unions calling upon
multinationals to take greater responsibility for improving labour and environmental conditions in their
supply chain have led to an increase in the number of companies that has a code of conduct directed
towards the company’s supply chain. However, there is still little evidence that these codes of conduct
are actually implemented through a reliable system of monitoring and verification with the involvement
of local stakeholders. Similarly there is little evidence that conditions on the ground have improved as
a result of these initiatives. Therefore, research on working conditions in supply chains of MNCs based
in the Global North is done with the aim of assessing whether suppliers to an MNC are actually
complying with the MNC’s supply chain code of conduct. The results of the research are often used in
consumer campaigns to pressure the multinationals to change their behaviour.
In other cases, a more bottom-up approach is required, especially when the research is related to a
controversial case that has already been identified and documented. In this case, supply chain
research is done to identify the customers of the company or companies at the bottom or beginning of
the supply chain that are causing a particular problem (e.g. polluting a river, or using child labour to
produce a product).
Another reason to do supply chain research is to support and build the capacity of workers in a certain
sector or working for a certain company. If they, as a result of the research, gain a better
understanding of the supply chains in which they are working, they will be better placed to maximise
their opportunities to organise themselves and build international solidarity to claim their rights. When
working in a global supply chain, it becomes important to build links between workers at different
points along the supply chains, even between many countries. Finally, supply chain research can also
done simply to get a better understanding of the sector and how relationships in the sector function.

In sum, there are a number of possible reasons to conduct supply chain research, including To
find out how the supply chain of a particular multinational is organised (to map the supply
chain)
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To link a specific MNC to a human rights/environmental abuse
To find production locations for field research (top-down)
To find out the buyers/customers of a specific company (bottom-up)
To build links between workers at different points along the supply chain
To get a better understanding of a sector.

Value chain research is done to identify the key players and the major stakeholders in a production
chain and identifying the roles and relative power of these actors. Value chain research is generally
conducted with the aim of getting a better understanding of the forces in the sector, or to find leverage
points and identify the best pressure points so as to target the right actor in a campaign.
Figure 3: Example of the supply chain and market power in the food sector

Research elements
Central in supply chain research are the relations between the different suppliers in a supply chain.
Other information that can be relevant to include is a description of the buying practices, sector trends
in supply chain management (like vertical (dis)integration and vertical specialisation), a company’s
strategy for supply chain management, corporate outsourcing strategies, corporate CSR policies
related to the supply chain, and employment levels at the different levels in the supply chain.
Central in value chain analysis are the market structure and the number of actors at the different levels
in the supply chain

Methodological considerations for supply chain research
Accurately mapping a supply chain can be a difficult challenge for a researcher. To a certain extent,
you must already have some understanding of the sector and the product or service you wish to map.
Supply chain mapping might involve researching press, internet and other sources, as well as
interviews with managers, workers, transport personnel, etc. Specialized databases like Lexis-Nexis
and Bloomberg can also be useful, but often cost a significant amount of money. Table 8 below
provides some methodological tips and considerations for doing supply chain research.
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Table 8: Sources and methods for supply chain research
Sources and methods for supply chain research
Look for information in the internet and in the media. Check advertisements and the websites of the local
manufacturers as they are often proud to work for international brands and mention them to attract other clients.
Conduct an online search using for example online databases provided by national exporter’s associations. Check
the websites and the publications of local business associations. Check national business directories like the
yellow pages and Kompass.
Look for test reports; some products are tested for their safety and these reports reveal the main components and
7
the manufacturers of these components. For example, for electrical products there is the IECEE CB Scheme.
Research at the production level through interviews with management. Sometimes you might consider taking
another identity then your own; as a consultant to a European industry researching the relations between southern
8
suppliers and northern buyers, for example .
Workers Information: often workers know for which retailers their factory is producing or where their mine is
delivering to. Leading questions for this are:
 What is the name of the company your work for?
 Who owns the company you work for?
 Where do the parts coming form (check the boxes)?
 Is work going out from the local factory to sweatshops and/or people in their homes?
 Where do the goods go when the leave the local factory? Are they going to any particular countries or
companies?
 Whose labels are on the goods?
Transport workers and others: there are often many more people with information, the transport workers deliver
the products and possible know where the product is going.

Company research
Point of departure and purpose
The point of departure for company research is, as could be expected, a particular company.
However, there can be various reasons for undertaking company research, and these reasons
influence the format/focus of the company research. Company research is may initiated by civil society
organisations for a number of reasons, including:

For campaigning purposes

As a basis for deciding whether or not to engage in a partnership with a company (risk
assessment) and/or start up a dialogue with a company

To promote sustainable consumption by benchmarking companies

As background for starting up multi-stakeholder initiatives

To influence company policies and practices (Company case studies about malpractices that
generate negative media coverage and reputation damage for a company can provide a good
incentive for the company (begin to) engage in more sustainable and just production models).

To influence governments and international organisations.
The standard output of company research is a company profile, but there are many different types of
company profiles., and the company profiles produced by SOMO are generally tailor-made to fit the
wishes and needs of different types of stakeholders with different strategies towards individual
companies, such as labour strategies with trade unions, capital strategies with investors and
shareholders, consumer strategies (benchmarks) with consumer organisations. The general types of
company profiles are the general company profile, the company CSR profile, the company risk

7

8

The IECEE CB Scheme is an international system for acceptance of test reports dealing with the safety of electrical and
electronic products. It is a multilateral agreement among participating countries and certification organisations
See also the chapter on research ethics. Be aware that this way you limit yourself of using this information in publications.
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assessment, the company tax assessment, a benchmarking profile. Some of these types of company
profiles is described in the sub-section below.

Research elements
The research elements to be included in the different types of company profile (general, CSR or risk
assessment) overlap to a large extent, but it is important to keep in mind that the purpose of the
company profile determines what the focus should be.
General company profile
Workers, trade unions and NGOs in the Global South often only see the local activities of MNCs. For
them, it may be difficult to see how these local activities fit in with the corporation’s global strategy. For
example, why does the company close down a local factory, putting many people out of work, while
simultaneously making big profits and buying up competitor firms in other countries? It might also be
difficult for local organizations to address local environmental or human rights abuses because it is
unclear who is responsible for setting the offending company’s policies. The increasingly complex and
quickly changing of ownership and financial structures of companies makes it challenging for civil
society organisations to hold companies to account. This is increasingly the case as the distance
between the offending company and the ultimate owners grows due to complex corporate structures,
investment by private equity funds, and the creation of shell or mailbox companies for tax evasion
purposes. A general company profile can provide clarity on these matters.
A general company profile provides an initial outline that seeks to classify the company in relation to
its market participation and production chains. The general company profile details the company’s
ownership structure and its main shareholders, its subsidiaries and its units and products that are
made in each unit, and its customer base. It contains basic economic-financial characteristics of the
company such as turnover and net profits, the number of employees, the liabilities and the main
creditors. Furthermore, it covers the global strategy of the company.
The research for a company profile is generally primarily based on secondary data collected through
company reports, the company’s website, the internet and the press. The type of research for a
company profile can be described as a survey or compilation of already existing knowledge. It involves
desk research to collect and document information about the company and includes a literature or
bibliographic survey. If a more in-depth company profile is desired, this can also involve other
research techniques like interviews with experts or company representatives. See Annex ‘Contents
Page of General Company Profile’ for an example of a table of contents for a general company profile
TIP:When conducting desk research on a company, there are a number of practical tips that
will save time and facilitate the search for information and relevant documents.
 For basic information about the company, such as annual and CSR reports and policies,
make sure you are researching the web site of the parent company. For example, if you
want to have information about the brand “Guinness”, you should be investigating the
web site of its parent company “Diageo”. If you are not certain of the name of the parent
company, conduct the following search in an Internet search engine: “[company name]
corporate” (e.g. “Guinness corporate”).
 Company reports and policies can be extensive, and the PDF files can often be hundreds
of pages long. If you are looking for specific information, it can very time consuming to
scroll through the entire document. It is therefore advisable to do keyword searches in
the document.
 For local companies and subsidiaries of larger parent companies, you should also search
through the websites of local newspapers for information. A good place to start is
http://www.kidon.com/media-link/index.php, which gives links to newspaper websites in
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different countries around the world. If the website you are researching does not have a
good search function itself, you can use an Internet search engine to search that specific
website. To do this, include “site:www.example.com” to your search query (e.g.
“site:www.diageo.com supply chain” .
SOMO specific:
For an example, see ‘Company Profile Akzo Nobel’, available via the research manual on intranet

Company CSR profile
These days, nearly all MNCs headquartered in an industrialized country have at least some sort of
code of ethics or a statement about CSR policies and activities on its website. Certification systems,
quality stamps, labels, and corporate codes of conduct have been developed at an impressive pace to
profile companies as responsible and sustainable. Many multinational companies make promises with
regard to sustainability and corporate social responsibility, but the question is to what extent these
policies are put into practice. It is useful to make a company CSR profile and analyse the company’s
CSR policies to be able to confront a company with its own commitments in case the company’s
performance in practice falls short of its policy commitments. Some potential elements to include in a
company CSR profile are described in Table 9 below.
Table 9: Elements of a company CSR profile and analysis
Element
Basic company
information
CSR issues within
the sector
Scan for negative
publicity on CSR
issues

Analysis of the
company’s CSR
policy

Implementation
and
operationalisation
of the CSR policy
CSR risk analysis

9

Questions to answer
What are the main products and activities, and where are the production locations? Is the
company operating in controversial sectors or high risk countries? What are the company’s
holding and ownership structures? What is its customer base?
What are the main problems (critical issues) related to social, environmental and labour
conditions in the specific sector in which the company operates? What are the viewpoints
and positions of civil society organisations on the critical issues?
Has the company ever experienced negative publicity related to its CSR practices? Have
any violations of codes of conduct or internationally accepted standards been reported? A
scan on negative publicity as mentioned in the table above can involve a desk research
scan of relevant media and trade union and corporate watchdog websites, or it can involve
a more thorough research process involving personal interviews. In a more extensive scan,
SOMO consults NGOs and trade unions for information on the practices of a company.
Does the company policy cover all the relevant aspects of CSR (social, environmental and
economic responsibility)? Does the company recognize the relevant sector-specific
standards? SOMO generally makes use of the standards and definitions in the Dutch CSR
9
Platform’s “CSR Frame of Reference” as a frame of reference for analysing corporate CSR
policies.
How is the CSR policy implemented? Is CSR embedded in the management systems of the
company? Is there a policy for suppliers? Is there an internal monitoring system? Is there
involvement of relevant stakeholders? Does the company have an independent compliance
verification system? How transparent is the company in reporting on the monitoring
activities?
If you look at the company’s activities and locations, its owners and subsidiaries and its
customers base, are there any potential risks for the quality, implementation and
operationalisation of its CSR policy?

See MVO Platform, CSR Frame of Reference, 2007, <http://mvoplatform.nl/publications-en/Publication_2758/> (14 July
2011).
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It may be useful and appropriate to include the company’s code of conduct and CSR policy, as well as
any relevant international or sectoral codes, as annex(es) to your company CSR profile. An example of
a table of contents is provided in the Annex ‘Contents Page of a CSR Company Profile’ .
SOMO specific:
For an example, see ‘Quickscan Philips Electronics N.V., available via the research manual on intranet

Company risk assessment
Part of the research SOMO conducts on companies involves assessing potential risks for NGOs that
may be considering entering into a partnership (or other form of a relationship) with a company. The
NGOs do not want to be associated with companies who act unethically or irresponsibly, and so
SOMO employs a corporate screening methodology to assess the likelihood that a company is
conducting activities that are not in line with the mission and values of the NGO. This methodology for
corporate screening allows the NGO to get a first impression of the risks that may be involved in
partnering with a specific company. The screening methodology generally employed by SOMO is
based on four different elements. The first element deals with the business activities of the company.
Activities in specific sectors (such as the weapons industry or large-scale mining or infrastructure) or
countries (such as the Democratic Republic of Congo or Burma) are likely to be controversial. The
second element deals with the CSR policies of a company, including the implementation and
operationalisation of these policies (see the section on “Analysing a company’s CSR policy” in Table 9
above). The third element involves an analysis of the company’s actual performance on CSR issues in
practice. Among other things, this part includes a media scan for controversies such as the violation of
internationally accepted standards (see the section on “Scan for negative publicity on CSR issues” in
Table 9 above). The fourth element involves conclusions related to the risks for the NGO if it decides
to engage with the company. In most cases, a risk assessment includes a list of considerations, pros
and cons, and discussion points that can serve as the basis for a dialogue between the NGO and the
company. It is this fourth element that clearly distinguishes the company risk assessment from the
company CSR profile. Some potential elements to include in a company risk assessment are
described in Table 10 below.
Table 10: Corporate screening methodology as risk assessment for NGOs
Element
Businesses activities
CSR policies

Company reputation

Risk assessment /
dialogue advise

Questions to answer
Is the company active in controversial sectors or high risk countries? Check on exclusion
criteria.
What are the quality and degree of implementation and operationalisation of the
company’s CSR policy? This includes aspects such as transparency, the involvement of
local stakeholders and embedding of CSR in corporate governance structures. To
assess the quality of a CSR policy, the researcher should be updated on what the
relevant and leading sector-specific CSR standards are of the sectors in which the
company is active.
Do any controversies or negative publicity on the company related to CSR issues exist?
Again, in order to do this the research should be aware of the critical CSR issues for the
sector in which the company is active.
What are the risks for the NGO related to engaging with this company? What are the
pros and cons? Are there additional considerations or discussion points?

In order to be able to thoroughly and effectively conduct a company risk assessment, the researcher
needs to gather information not only on the corporation in question, but also on the NGO that is
requesting the assessment. For example, which industrial sectors and countries does the NGO
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consider controversial? Does the NGO have any specific exclusion criteria?

Company tax assessment
Tax compliance by companies is a relatively new CSR issue, but one that is being increasingly
promoted by civil society organisations and has been taken up in leading international normative
standards on CSR such as the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises.
Tax evasion and tax avoidance allows companies to shrug their financial obligations and
responsibilities to the (poor) societies from which they have generated their profits. A crucial factor
related to this issue is that companies show transparency in international finance and their operating
locations. There are two indicators that a company may be actively avoiding taxes. The first indicator
is whether the company has subsidiaries in countries that are known for their lax tax policies (tax
havens), but where the company has no business activities. The other indicator is whether a company
pays a lower overall tax rate than would be expected given their core business activities.
To find information regarding the first indicator, one simply has to look at the list of subsidiaries of the
company and where they are based and compare this list with a list of so-called “tax havens”, as
identified by the OECD . Search the key word “subsidiaries” within the company’s annual report to find
a list.
Regarding the second indicator, the overall taxes paid by a company, or rather, indications for harmful
tax planning practices, can be found in the company’s annual financial report. SOMO is in the process
of developing a detailed training on how to analyse tax-related information in annual reports. Indicators
for harmful tax planning and a separate research manual. More information will be developed by the
end of 2011. You can contact the Economic Justice and Corporate Research teams for more
information.
In 2012, SOMO will develop a set of indicators that companies should fulfill with regard to their tax
reporting, behavior and CSR record. In general, a company should be transparent about its beneficial
ownership structures, its subsidiaries and supply chain, its profits and tax payments made per country
(country-by-country reporting).
The following Annexes provide more detailed information on analyzing a company’s tax
behavior:
1. The Tax Justice Toolkit contains a general overview of company research (Chapter 3), which will be
revised in November 2011, with the revised version to be put online.
2. This is a short guide on steps to follow when integrating a tax scan into a company Quick Scan
3. This is a detailed guide to reading tax-related information in financial annual statements. This will be
revised by the end of 2011 and contains a lot of useful information.
4. The following Annexes are referred to in the guides above and contain background information or
examples:

SCA Quick Scan

SCA_tax excerpts
5. To understand conduit structures and transfer pricing, the following annexes are useful:
netherlands_tax_haven_2007

Dutch-Swiss tax planning

NL conduit (participation exemption)

NL conduit (royalties)

Comtrade presentation
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Corporate lobbying
While political donations and policy influence are sometimes recognized as CSR issues, there are few
efforts to address the issue of corporate lobbying more widely. Some schemes for CSR reporting,
including the Global Reporting Initiative’s (GRI) G3 guidelines , do include guidance on reporting about
participation in public policy development and lobbying, but many of the companies that use the G3
guidelines choose not to use these society performance indicators (S05 and S06). Furthermore, the
GRI’s G3 guidelines, like many other reporting templates, do not require companies to report on
lobbying activities conducted on their behalf by associations and chambers of commerce. The OECD
Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises include a stipulation that enterprises should “Abstain from any
improper involvement in local political activities”.
Very often multinational companies support lobbying efforts that contradict their own policies and
stated positions. Moreover, most MNCs do not disclose their own positions on public policy proposals
and lack any kind of system to bring their (behind the scenes) lobbying into line with their CSR
policies. This can have serious consequences for developing countries, whether the target of
corporate lobbying be the government of that country or those involved in negotiating international
trade agreements. It does, of course, pose a serious risk to the credibility of the company involved too.
Although lobbying is rarely integrated into CSR policies and management systems, some companies
do provide some transparency on specific aspects of lobbying, with disclosure of political donations
being the most advanced element. Unfortunately, this is probably one of the least important ways of
influencing public policy. Direct lobbying and constituency-building by individual companies as well as
various collective strategies tend to have a much bigger influence and account for a much greater
share of budgets. Direct lobbying by corporate executives and collective lobbying strategies are locked
in a black box, the former because the lobbying itself can remain undetectable and the latter because
the role of one company among many is hard to determine.
It is unlikely that these routes to influence policies can ever be fully regulated through legislation.
Several high-income countries have attempted to regulate aspects of corporate lobbying, by requiring
the reporting of professional lobbyists, payments made to lobby firms, revolving door practices, and
political donations. If more governments adopt such regulation, this could enhance transparency and
reduce some forms of undue influence. However, none of the legal structures created so far require
multinationals to disclose their policy positions, without which corporate accountability remains
severely limited. Enforcement of any such laws is often nigh-on impossible because violations are
tricky to detect.
When making a CSR company profile, it can be insightful to analyze whether a company’s CSR
policies and practices are supported or contradicted by its lobbying efforts in the public policy arena. In
Table 11, the main lobbying approaches and strategies used by companies are explained.
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Table 11: lobbying approaches and strategies used by companies
Approach and
orientation

Main direct target
group

Type of lobbying
strategy

Participation level
Individual

Relational approach

Policymakers

Revolving doors

Government officials
becoming company
executives or
lobbyists and vice
versa

Transactional
approach, mainly
information-oriented

Policymakers

Direct lobbying

Lobbying by
company executives
and lobbyists hired
by companies

Experts and opinion
leaders

Influencing experts
and opinion leaders

Lobbying by
company executives
and lobbyists hired
by companies

Policymakers

Political donations,
charity

Donations and
charity by
companies
Linking company
investment
decisions to policy
outcomes
Mobilization and
funding by
companies
Campaigns
sponsored by
companies

Transactional
approach, mainly
pressure-oriented

Promises and
threats

Stakeholders and
grassroots
organizations
General public

Constituency
building
Advocacy
advertising

Collective
Government officials
becoming
representatives or
lobbyists of
associations and
vice versa
Lobbying by
representatives of
associations and
lobbyists hired by
associations
Lobbying by
representatives of
associations and
lobbyists hired by
associations

Campaigns
sponsored by
associations

There are a number of resources on the Internet that can be used to track donations to political parties
and politicians. Most of these resources only contain information on the US and Europe. Open Secrets
(www.opensecrets.org/lobby) is one of the most advanced sources and also includes information on
companies that use the revolving doors strategy. Other good sources are the databases of the US
House of Representatives (http://disclosures.house.gov/ld/ldsearch.aspx) and the US Senate
(www.senate.gov/legislative/Public_Disclosure/LDA_reports.htm). The European Register of Interest
Representatives (https://webgate.ec.europa.eu/transparency/regrin/welcome.do), created by the
European Commission, can be an interesting source of information, although it is not complete. Due to
the fact that it is a voluntary system, many lobbyists or “interest representatives” fail to register.
Some good NGO sources on corporate lobbying are:

Alliance for Lobbying Transparency and Ethics Regulation (ALTER-EU) - www.alter-eu.org

Corporate Europe Observatory - www.corporateeurope.org

Friends of the Earth Europe - www.foeeurope.org/corporates/news/alter_eu.htm

Corporate Accountability International - www.stopcorporateabuse.org

Transnational Institute - www.tni.org

Polaris Institute - www.polarisinstitute.org

Global Policy Forum - www.globalpolicy.org
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Linkedin can be an extremely useful source to analyze a company’s track record with regard to
revolving doors. This profile website contains the resumes and curricula vitae (CVs) of millions of
professionals and executives around the world. It also includes company profiles with links to the CVs
of ex-employees. When writing a CSR company profile, it is a good idea to check the Linkedin profiles
of the key people in the company, such as the CEO, the CFO and the Chair of the Board. It is very
likely that these people also have positions in other companies, boards, charities, sector associations
and that, in the past, they have been public servants, politicians or prominent members of political
parties. Linkedin can also help you to figure out power relations between influential people and socalled “old-boys networks”. Another Web site that researchers can use to find out about the
background of company executives – or anyone else – is KGB People (www.kgbpeople.com).

Benchmarking
A benchmark is a standard by which something is evaluated or measured (also see section 1.4.
developing a frame of reference). Benchmarking is the process of comparing a company’s business
processes and performance to industry bests and/or best practices from other industries. Dimensions
typically measured are quality, time, and cost. However, in the work field of SOMO, the benchmarking
comes down to CSR rating and ranking, and in this case the benchmarks are CSR standards. “CSR
rating” is defined as the use of one or more environmental and social (depending on the used
definition of CSR) assessment criteria to assign a score, or to rate a specific company. “CSR Ranking”
is the resulting list of companies in relative order depending on the score attained.
CSR rating and ranking is done to:

Benchmark companies both within and across sectors

Assess company performance over time

Provide simple, easy to grasp, measurement of multidimensional concept like CSR
Most rating and ranking is undertaken by specialised institutions in the field of socially responsible
investment (SRI). Although banks or asset managers also tend to rate companies for portfolio decision
making, most specialised rating agencies operate independently to avoid conflicts of interest. Ratings
are primarily produced for investors, fund managers, banks, etc., who require information on the social
and environmental performance of companies in order to evaluate risks associated with the
investment in these companies. Occasionally, ratings are produced for non-profit organisations for
other purposes (e.g. consumer organisations(
One downside of CSR ranking is that the ranking is often predominantly based on CSR/environmental
reports published by companies. Such reports may provide a biased and one-sided picture of a
company’s CSR activities because they generally only reflect CSR policies such as the content of
code of conduct, adherence to ILO norms and implementation of CSR performance measurement
systems, while the actual CSR performance in practice, for example labour conditions in supplier
companies, are not discussed at all. Ratings based solely on input indicators provide only a partial
picture of CSR, and more importantly, a picture provided by the companies themselves. Compare
companies’ CSR policies with their actual CSR behaviour is often not done because of the research
costs involved. Doing so generally involves setting up new empirical field research and researching all
the included companies in the benchmark on the same topics in the same way.
SOMO does not consider it ethical or fair towards companies to rate and rank companies based purely
on negative publicity on CSR issues. This can result in a situation in which the companies that have
received negative publicity end up with low ratings, while other companies may receive a high score
simply because they have fallen outside the scope of research organisations or media outlets, not
necessarily because of their good practices. In addition, if the research is not careful, this kind of
benchmarking can also lead to damaging companies based on unreliable or unsubstantiated research.
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It is important to bear in mind that that there is a knowledge gap in this regard - negative publicity will
always only cover a sample of a company’s operations, while the largest part of the company’s
behaviour remains unknown.
For a recent example, see the SOMO report ‘Sustainability in the Power Sector- update 2010’
http://somo.nl/publications-nl/Publication_3598-nl/view

Sector research
Point of departure and purpose
A sector-specific approach is often key to identifying the specific social and environmental impacts for
communities, workers and other stakeholders resulting from activities in that industrial sector (eg.
garments, electronics, pharmaceuticals). A sectoral and supply chain perspective allows civil society
organisations like SOMO to make linkages between the adverse effects of globalisation in developing
countries and the responsibilities of drivers for change, which are often the multinational companies at
the end of the chain. For a good understanding of the issues and potential solutions it is important that
not only the social and environmental problems are identified, but also the economic realities of the
sector, the governmental regulations and the market power relations throughout the value chain are
understood. As with the company profiles, the sector profiles produced by SOMO are tailor-made to
support different types of stakeholders with different strategies. As a result, there is no one a single
format for sector studies, but most sector studies start with a general sector profile and contain a
sector CSR profile, both of which contain some standard research elements. These are described in
the next section.

Research elements



General sector profile
In order to gain a good understanding of a sector and produce a thorough profile of an industrial
sector, SOMO recommends including at least four basic elements in the profile: a description of the
sector, the market structure including market statistics, recent trends and strategies of companies in
the sector, as well as relevant regulations and trade and investment agreements. Table 12 below
reveals the potential aspects to include in each of these research elements.
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Table 12: Research elements and potential elements to include in a general sector profile
Research element
Description of the
sector

Market structure

Sector trends and
strategies

(optional)
Regulations in the
sector

Potential aspects to include

























10

Industry code (NACE or SIC code )
main products and activities
main production locations
production chains
trade flows;
Overview of the leading companies and their market shares, their countries of origin,
their turnover and profits and ownership structures
market forces (forces of demand and supply that cause prices to rise and to fall)
main competitors
market statistics (growth or decline)
production and trade statistics
employment statistics.
mergers and acquisitions
consolidation
concentrations
global footprint; off shoring
outsourcing; subcontracting
vertical (des)integration of supply chains
partnerships
cartels
industry initiatives.
International governmental regulations,
EU directives
trade and investment agreements

For a recent example, see the SOMO report ‘Putting Contract Research Organisations on the Radar’
(2011), http://somo.nl/publications-nl/Publication_3615-nl/view



Sector CSR profile
A sector CSR profile generally starts with the elements of a general sector profile and then continues
with an identification and description of the critical CSR issues specific to the sector. For some
sectors, the CSR issues are limited to labour and environmental concerns, but there are also sectors
with very different issues. In the pharmaceutical sector, for example, SOMO has identified 12 different
critical CSR issues, only one of which is social and environmental conditions during production of
medicines. In addition to social, environmental and ethical issues, economic issues such as tax
evasion, unfair competition, and not contributing to local economic development are also increasingly
recognized as critical CSR issues in a number of different sectors.
Other pharmaceutical sector CSR issues that were identified as critical from a developing country
perspective include:

Insufficient access to medicines: excessive drug pricing, intellectual property rights,
(IPRs), TRIPS, investment and trade agreements are obstacles to access to medicines.

10

SIC is a US system for Standard Industrial Classification, NACE is a European Union classification scheme:
http://europa.eu.int/comm/competition/mergers/cases/index/nace_all.html. These codes are useful to find statistics on the
sector.
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Only a small part of R&D investment goes to major diseases in poor countries, causing
no access to medicines for poor patients whereas a large part goes to ‘me too’-drugs, i.e.
copies of existing commercially successful drugs.
Clinical trials are increasingly conducted in developing countries, sometimes in
irresponsible and unethical ways.
Drug donations and Public-Private Partnerships (PPPs) between pharma companies and
the public sector generate large impacts and have important consequences for
developing countries, including negative ones.

In addition to an overview of critical CSR issues, it is important to list the relevant standards and codes
for corporate responsibility. Alongside broad international standards like the ILO conventions, the Rio
Declaration, the UN Universal Declaration of Human Rights, and the OECD Guidelines for
Multinational Enterprises, there are also generally one or more codes or initiatives that are specific to
a certain sector. Such initiatives are generally based on international standards and aim to achieve
greater corporate responsibility and sustainability within the sector and the supply chain. It is also
important to identify the civil society organisations active in the sector and give an overview of their
positions.
Table 13: Research elements and potential elements to include in a sector CSR profile
Research elements
General sector
profile

Considerations and potential aspects to include
Depending on the purpose of the profile and available resources, certain elements from
the general sector profile that may be crucial for a better understanding of CSR in the
sector can be further elaborated.

Overview sectorspecific CSR issues

CSR issues can include social concerns (e.g. human rights, working conditions,
community displacement, etc.), environmental matters (e.g. pollution, biodiversity, etc.),
and economic issues (e.g. corruption, tax evasion, unfair competition, etc.). For SOMO,
issues that are considered critical from a Southern/developing country perspective are
particularly important to identify.

Overview of the
relevant sector
specific standards

Such standards can include those expressed in official and governmental agreements
(e.g. the Kyoto Protocol for the energy sector, the WHO code on baby food), as well as
codes of conduct developed by the industry itself (e.g. the EICC code for the electronics
industry, the Equator Principles for the financial industry) or other groups.

Overview of civil
society actors and
their positions

This can include lists of demands by campaigning organisations active in the sector as
well as sectoral model codes proposed by NGOs and trade unions like the Collevechio
Declaration by environmental NGOs on financial corporations or ”The CCC Model Code”
for the garment industry.

For an example of a sector CSR profile, see the makeITfair report ‘Fair Phones: it’s your call’ (2009),
http://makeitfair.org/the-facts/reports
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Research types checklist
Research types checklist

Further explanation

Have you selected a research type that fits with your
point of departure?

Research types to choose from include controversial
case research, supply chain research (including value
chain research), company research, and sector studies

Did you make sure you only selected the research
elements that are needed for the purpose of your
research?
If you are doing controversial case research, did you
include the three fundamental elements?

A relatively small but well-focussed research project
can be at least as effective as a much larger one
covering (too) many elements.
1) The specific details of the controversy/violation, 2)
the specific role of the company or companies in this
controversy/violation, and 3) identification of the laws
and international standards that have been violated.
As empowering and supporting local stakeholders is
often the driver behind controversial case research they
should be involved in the process.
For example, take a top-down approach to find
production locations, a bottom-up approach to find the
buyers, and a mapping approach to build links between
workers or to understand a particular multinational.
Company profiles may include general elements, a
CSR profile, risk assessment, tax assessment,
corporate lobbying assessment, benchmarking
elements, depending on what function the profile has.
There is no single format for a sector study, but among
the elements to include are:
 Description of the sector
 Market structure
 Sector trends and strategies
 Regulations in the sector
 General sector profile
 Overview sector-specific CSR issues
 Overview of the relevant sector specific
standards
 Overview of civil society actors and their
positions

If you are doing controversial case research, have you
consulted local stakeholders in defining the problem
and setting up the research questions?
If you are doing supply chain research, make sure your
approach to the chain serves the purpose you seek to
achieve.
If you are doing company research, make sure that the
elements of the profile fit with the follow up strategy
you envision.
If you are doing a sector study, tailor the elements of
the study to the follow up strategy you envision.
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Module 5: Research Methods and Techniques
Introduction
Before choosing methods and techniques to collect data, it is important to take into account the
following questions, which will determine what methods are most suitable for your research:





the problem you are looking at and question you want to answer
the type of information/data you need to collect
the resources you have (e.g. time, people, skills, money)

The choice of your research method and data collection technique is important because this choice
affects the type of information you will collect (and therefore the findings of your research).Research
findings can vary greatly depending on how the research is carried out. In many cases, you can
combine research methods and techniques to get the data you need. For example, if you are
interested in the impacts of a company’s policies and practices related labour rights, you can use desk
research to study the company’s commitments and policies in corporate documentation, and use field
research and interviews with workers to verify whether these commitments are implemented in
practice. Below, the most commonly used research methods and techniques are further explained.

Different research methodologies
A common distinction used to categorize research methodologies is the distinction between
quantitative and qualitative research based on the number of “research units” involved in the study
and the depth/detail in which each “research unit” is described or investigated. Research units refer to
the entities you observe or study in your research to draw conclusions; in other words, the subject of
your research. SOMO’s research units are often companies, company staff, company policies, and/or
community members. Quantitative research refers to research that involves many research units (e.g.
a large-scale survey of dozens or hundreds of workers of one or more companies), while qualitative
research involves one or few research units (e.g. a case study of the working conditions in one factory
using a small number of interviews).
The choice for quantitative versus qualitative research involves a trade-off between “breadth”
(generalizability) and “depth”. If your aim is to have your research findings have a high degree of
statistical significance, a quantitative approach is needed. However, the depth of the data gathered
may be sacrificed in a quantitative approach. On the other hand, when seeking in-depth knowledge of
individual research units, the quantity of units that can be included will be limited, impacting the
generalizability of the findings. In SOMO’s line of research, generalization of findings is often not the
objective since highly generalizable results are often not required to perform SOMO’s watchdog role or
make accurate and verifiable statements about a company’s practices.
Example: Breadth versus depth
When interested in the evaluation of working conditions by workers in factory X, the researcher
could employ a quantitative research methodology involving the circulation of a written
questionnaire among all the workers in the factory. However, the number of questions would have
to be limited to ensure a good response rate, and most probably the answers you would get would
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be short. In other words, the depth would be limited, but with a high response rate, you could
safely claim your findings would relate to a high percentage of the workforce.
Another possibility would be to employ a qualitative research methodology involving in-depth
interviews with a limited number of workers. This would provide you with time and space to ask
more difficult questions, rephrase and add questions along the way, which would most probably
deliver more in-depth insights than the large scale survey. However, it would be harder to
generalize your findings beyond the people you spoke to.
The quantitative-qualitative dichotomy is not an either-or divide, but more of a sliding scale.
Furthermore, mixed methodologies are possible and may even be desirable to strengthen research
findings (e.g. triangulation, see Module 2). The choice for a particular research method or combination
of methods depends on the research question, along with the resources available. In practice most of
the research conducted by SOMO and its partners is qualitative, and therefore this manual elaborates
primarily qualitative research designs. Nevertheless, the research techniques described in this chapter
may also be used in a quantitative design.
Another way to distinguish research methods is between empirical and non-empirical research (i.e.
research based on primary or secondary sources, respectively), and participatory and nonparticipatory methodologies. Again, these do not comprise an either-or choice, but can be employed
on a sliding scale in which, again, a combination of strategies is also possible. In this module, the
basic dichotomy between non-empirical desk research and empirical research is taken as a point of
departure, and methods are described under these headings. Although field research belongs to the
empirical domain, it gets a specific section because of its importance for SOMO and its partners and
because of the specific requirements it entails. In the field research section the participatory/ nonparticipatory divide is further elaborated.

Desk research
Desk research refers to the collection of data through secondary sources, i.e. data that has already
been collected by someone else. Desk research may either be used as a preliminary research
method, as a way of acquainting yourself with the research subject, and/or exploring what knowledge
is already out there (i.e. a literature survey). However, desk research may also be the primary
research method you will use in answering your research question. For example, when researching
the external communication of companies about their CSR policies, it may sufficient to review and
compare corporate websites and printed publications. However, if you are interested in
implementation of these policies, it is likely necessary to conduct empirical research by interviewing
workers and/or managers.
In most projects, carrying out initial desk research is strongly recommended to gain background
knowledge about a subject as well as providing useful leads that will help in using the research budget
and resources more efficiently. It is also a way to develop an understanding of the theoretical
knowledge and academic debate that already exists on the subject. This will help to avoid wasting
time and money by re-inventing the wheel. Based on the insights gathered through initial desk
research, the research question may also be adapted or reshaped (see Module 2).
Depending on the purpose of the desk research, whether it be a preliminary exploratory inquiry or the
main research method, one may choose for a more flexible or a more structured approach. In the first
type, literature sources may be found and added along the way, while in the structured approach
sources may be selected in advance and reported in the methods section of your research document.
For example, in benchmarking research (see Module 5), it might be desirable to select all sources in
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advance and make explicit what sources were and were not included in the research, in order to have
a fully transparent research method,. Alternatively, if the desk research is part of a preliminary inquiry,
a more flexible approach may be used in which initial sources may lead to other sources that contain
new information.
The quality of desk research findings depends to a large extent on the quality of the sources that are
used. One should always critically assess the quality of the sources you are using before basing your
analysis on them, especially when using Internet. The ‘CARS’ (Credibility, Accuracy, Reasonableness
and Support) approach (see Module 3) offers a means to assess the quality of sources.
A major pitfall in conducting desk research is that you run the risk of getting overwhelmed by all the
information. It is very easy to get lost in all the information you gather, possibly resulting in losing sight
of your research objective. One way to stay focused on your purpose and research question is to
”interview” your secondary sources by means of a prefabricated list of questions, to be used to select
the relevant information from each of your sources.
Two basic portals for desk research – the Internet and libraries – are discussed below.

Article 1.

Using the Internet

The Internet is becoming an increasingly powerful source, as more and more information is available
online. However, because it is open to anyone and everyone with Internet access, and anyone can
publish information on it, information available on the web is especially vulnerable for manipulation
and distortion, and thus potentially unreliable. The quality of the information obtained through the
Internet should always be carefully scrutinized. .
Researchers must also be aware of the fact that the Internet is a dynamic resource. Information found
on the web can move or even vanish completely. For this reason, all web pages used as sources
should be printed or saved to disk.
TIP for saving and storing Internet sources:
 Using Internet Explorer, an easy way to save web pages is via the menu File  Save
as  Save as type: web archive, single file (*.mht). Alternatively, a web page may be
saved as PDF file, using software called ‘PDF Download’, which is available online.
When using this program, always check whether the whole website has been saved,
and make sure to document the URL separately, as this is not saved in the PDF.
 Furthermore, all website addresses (URLs) have to be carefully registered and saved
with the date of access. An adequate way to refer to internet sources is described in the
‘Chicago Manual Style of Reference 2009’
For an overview of useful Internet sources, see Annex ‘useful online databases’

Watchdog and activist resources
When gathering information on possible controversies relating to a company, watchdog and activist
websites can be a helpful source. Examples of such websites include the Global Compact Critics blog
(www.globalcompactcritics.org), the Business & Human Rights Resource Centre (www.businesshumanrights.org), the Business and human Rights Documentation project (www.bhrd.org) and
SourceWatch ( www.sourcewatch.org). The amount of websites available is enormous, which means it
is very time consuming to check each website individually for the information you are looking for.
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If you know which websites are relevant, there are some very easy ways to combine them into one
search. One example is to create a Google custom search engine. Which websites are relevant
depends on the research subject, but the websites of relevant civil society organizations, trade unions,
consumer organization and web logs (blogs) would likely be included.
TIP for creating a Google custom search engine:
 Go to www.google.com/cse/
 Click on “create a custom search engine”
 Follow the steps indicated, making sure to include all relevant sites in the “sites to search”
box, listing one URL per line
 You will receive an email with the URL for your search engine
 You can now use this engine to search for your research subject (e.g. a specific company
or case) within your preselected websites.
SOMO specific:
SOMO search engine
SOMO has its own accustomed search engine with all the relevant websites (> 200):
 Go to www.google.com/cse/
 Login with SOMOresearcher@gmail.com, password: Keizersgracht132
 Click on ‘manage your existing search engine’
 Start searching
If you find a relevant website that is not yet included in this tool, please add it by going to the control panel and
click “add sites”. Make sure you are logged in as SOMOresearcher in Google.
SOMO RSS reader
Another SOMO research tool is the Google reader, which collects RSS feeds from selected sources (> 1000).
This tool is more up-to-date and includes more sources than the Google search engine, but does not search all
documents at the selected websites (only posted messages).
 Go to reader.google.com
 Login with SOMOresearcher@gmail.com, password: Keizersgracht132
 Start searching
If you find a relevant website that is not yet included in this tool, please add it by subscribing to the RSS feed of
the website, but make sure you are logged in as SOMOresearcher in Google.

News sites
In addition to watchdog sites, journalists may also report on corporate misconduct and controversies in
news media, and therefore it might be useful to collect information from news media. An easy way to
search multiple news items is through Google News: news.google.com.
News sources can also be useful for gaining an overview of general developments within a company
or companies (e.g. mergers, acquisitions, accusations, rumors, etc). If you are looking for company
developments within a specific country, the Kidon Media Link website (http://www.kidon.com/medialink/index.php) can be particularly helpful. This site offers an overview of links to local news media for
practically every country in the world.
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SOMO-specific:
For SOMO researchers, the LexisNexis news database is also available. See Annex ”Lexis Nexis search terms
for news scan” for instructions on how to use Lexis Nexis, and for useful search terms, see Annex ‘Lexis Nexis:
search terms for news scan’.
Before using LexisNexis for the first time, please make sure you are aware of the costs of use. See
‘handouts_kosten1’ and ‘handouts_kosten 2’ on intranet.

Online company and business information
When conducting company research (as described in Module 5), many useful sources are available
online to retrieve financial information, ownership relations, and CSR information.
Note: An extensive manual for “reading financial information” is provided in Annex 5.
First of all, corporate websites are an important source for researching the CSR policies of the
company, as well as finding annual reports and a general description of the business activities. You
should make sure that you consult the website of the parent company, as the websites of subsidiaries
and local branches often do not include this information. For example, the beer brand Guinness is
owned by the parent company Diageo. The Guinness.com website offers almost no corporate
information; it is all found at Diageo.com.
Financial information on a company is often grouped under the tab “About us” or ”Iinvestor relations”.
CSR information is grouped under many headings, most commonly ”social responsibility”,
”sustainability”, ”environment”, ”society” or some other similar term. Websites of chambers of
commerce are also an important entry point for company-specific information such as annual reports,
ownership information, and corporate structure.
TIP: to find a national chamber of commerce, search for ”[country name] company register”.
For example, “Netherlands company register”.
For American companies, SEC filings are an important source of information, as companies in the
USA are obliged to report very specific financial and other information, including anticipated business
risks and raw material use. A portal for SEC filings is www.sec.gov/edgar. This portal includes the
following information:









10-K - The company's annual report. This contains all sorts of useful information, including all
the court cases that the company is involved in.
10-Q - The quarterly (less detailed) update to 10-K
8-K - The occasional update to 10-K when important details change or events occur.
13-F - List of holdings in the company by the top institutional investors. Annoyingly, these are
in alphabetical order rather than order of size of holding. Be careful as many institutions are
large asset managers and hold stock for their institutional clients in “street name”.
20-F - Annual report for foreign companies.
40-F - Annual report for Canadian companies.

In addition, there are some websites that offer business information. Some of these sites are free,
but others require payment for thier services. Examples of such websites include:





www.finance.yahoo.com
www.corporateinformation.com
www.mintportal.bvdep.com (payment required)
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www.dnb.com (payment required, SOMO specific: access to limited company report via
LexisNexis)
www.hoovers.com (some free information, some paid)
TIP: If you are visiting a business information website for the first time, first download a
sample report to see what type of information you can expect. This is especially important for
websites requiring payment to ensure that you do not pay for information that is not useful or
relevant.
TIP: It is often possible to sign up for a free trial period of websites requiring payment. You
can use this free trial period to obtain a selection of reports and then evaluate whether
paying for the service is worthwhile.

SOMO specific:
SOMO has recently acquired a license for the Bloomberg database which is one of the most complete company
databases in the world. It offers a wealth of company information, among which shareholders and investor
information, and data on suppliers and customers. For some companies there will be more information available
than others, since even this database is dependent on public information. It will generally contain more
information on stock listed companies than on privately owned companies. There is no manual available yet, but
as user experience is built up, manuals and guidelines will be made available here. For some tips and tricks, see
the following thread on intranet: http://somointra.evenkijken.nu/news/bloomberg-feedback
LexisNexis offers company profiles and other corporate information under Tab ‘zoeken’ -> Tab ‘company
information’. It also covers some sources that might be used to research corporate structures. For a step by step
user manual, see Annex ‘Lexis Nexis: finding corporate structures’.
Corporate structures are often hard to reveal, but for Dutch companies, the Reach database offers a fruitful
channel. Many universities have access to this database, so you might want to see if you can realize access
through a university account.
Retrieving corporate structure using Reach:
-> Search on company name and select a few companies that may be part of the multinational
-> Select company report tab
-> Check via shareholder info if a company is part of the multinational
-> Choose format, modify, add ‘The corporate group’
-> Export to Excel 2000 format with subsidiaries at 10 levels

Online sector/industry information
To get an overview of the state of affairs and recent trends in a sector or industry, market research
reports offer a good entry point. However, these reports are often very expensive. Examples of
companies offering such research reports include Datamonitor (www.datamonitor.com) and Imri
Research (www.imriresearch.com), but there are many more. Searching for ”market research [sector
or industry]” (e.g. “market research garment sector” will help you on your way.
TIP: Market research reports are often very expensive, but their table of contents can often be
downloaded free of charge. The table of contents may already reveal useful information such
as major players in the market or major regions.
SOMO specific
LexisNexis offers industry reports under TAB ‘zoeken’ -> TAB ‘market information’.

50

Online academic literature
Academic literature can be very useful for getting acquainted with the most updated conceptual and
theoretical knowledge on your subject. Academic literature is generally more relevant for gathering
information on a specific issue (e.g. labour rights) rather than on a specific company, although some
well-known corporate case studies have been scientifically researched. While academic journals often
required paid subscriptions, some articles are available for free through Google’s “Scholar” service
(www.google.scholar.com).
TIP: Many universities have subscriptions to online journals, which you can access for
academic literature if you have an online access code to an online university library, many
more academic articles will be available to you.

Article II

Libraries

Libraries offer a portal to an often unimaginable amount of information and can provide free or lowcost access to information that may otherwise be costly. Different libraries use different systems for
placing and searching for information in the collection, but most libraries offer online access to
information and access to databases for members.
University libraries normally offer access to a range of high quality sources of information, but they
may only be accessible for students and university employees.

Desk research checklist
The table below provides a practical checklist to guard the quality of your desk research.
Table 14: Desk research checklist and additional considerations
Desk research checklist questions

Additional considerations

Do you have a clear idea of what questions you want
to answer with your literature survey?

TIP: Before starting your research, compile ”interview”
questions to “interview” your secondary data.

Have you identified all the relevant potential sources of
information available to you through desk research?

Think of watchdog and activist resources, news sites,
corporate websites, online academic information,
libraries.
For quality evaluation criteria, see Module 3.

Are you confident about the quality of the sources you
are using?
Have you checked whether your sources are up-todate?
Have you saved your internet sources for offline
availability?
Have you adequately referred to your sources?

See ‘Chicago Manual Style of Reference 2009’

Empirical research
There are several different methods for collecting empirical data. This section elaborates on two of
those methods: questionnaires and interviews. In addition, field research, which is a specific type of
empirical research in which data is collected in the “field” where labour and human rights breaches
and/or environmental pollution are taking place, is discussed in section 0 below. However, before
describing each of these data collection methods in detail, it is essential that researchers be properly
prepared to undertake empirical research. The following section is devoted to such preparation..
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Article III

Empirical research preparation

Preparing to undertake empirical research comprises several important elements. These include
operationalization of the main research concepts, sampling of the research population, and piloting of
the research method. Each of these elements is addressed below.

Operationalisation
Before starting with empirical data collection, it is of paramount importance to “operationalize” your
research question. In other words, you must make your research question measurable through
specific observations. For example, when assessing the corporate social responsibility of a company,
one should operationalize “CSR”. One way to do this is by drafting a diagram that detangles your main
concept from its meaning in practice. For example:

Corporate social responsibility

Environment responsibility

Water treatment
Waste disposal
Energy use
…….

Social responsibility

Employee wages
Community dialogue
…….

Economic responsibility

Paying taxes
……

Based on this diagram and operationalization of CSR, instead of asking a corporate manager whether
his company is socially responsible, you could ask about the company’s performance in each of the
”operational” aspects. For example, you could ask things like, “How does your company treat its waste
water?”, “How does your company determine employee wages?”, etc.

Sampling
Another important part of the preparation for empirical data collection is the selection of respondents,
also known as ”sampling”. The sampling method chosen determines the external validity of the
research and the generalizability of your research results to the larger research population . A “random
sample” provides for the most external validity, because in random sampling, each item or element of
the population has an equal chance of being chosen at each draw. As such, the sample can be seen
as ”representing” the larger research population (see Figure 4).
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Figure 4: Sampling and generalization

11

Unfortunately, in SOMO’s line of research, a random sample is often not attainable. For instance,
when assessing the employment conditions of a textile supplier to a major clothing label, it will likely
be impossible to get an overview of the entire employee base (i.e. the research population). In fact,
researchers at SOMO and SOMO’s partner organisations often struggle to gain access to even a
single employee. One technique SOMO and partners use to gain access to employees is waiting at
the supplier factory gate for employees to walk out. Even though employees are randomly approached
as they exit the factory grounds, it is likely that only some employees will be willing to cooperate in the
research; many will not want to participate. In this way, the research sample becomes biased because
of a certain degree of “self-selection” of respondents in the sample. Often, this is not something that
can be avoided, but it is something a researcher should be aware of, try to minimize, and
acknowledge in the methodology section of the research report.
A general rule is the larger the sample, the greater the reliability of the data. If your sample size (often
referred to as “n” in the field of statistics) comprises only 10 people, and two of them happen to hold
extreme views, those two will have a significant impact on the the overall research results. However,
two individuals with extreme views would make much less impact on a sample of 50 and virtually no
impact on a sample of 500. Thus, the larger the sample size, the lower the risk of getting a rogue
result. That said, SOMO generally employs “small-n” qualitative research methods, limiting the
possibilities for generalising findings and claiming that a research finding in a sample is generalizable
to the whole population. However, in SOMO’s line of research, generalization of findings is often not
the objective since highly generalizable results are often not required to perform SOMO’s watchdog
role or make accurate and verifiable statements about a company’s practices. The following example
illustrates this point.
Example: During field research at a clothing factory in India where 5,000 young girls are
employed, 20 interviews with young female workers are conducted. When asked about the
labour conditions in the factory, five workers provide indications of labour rights breaches,
11

Research Methods Knowledge Base, “Ëxternal Validity”, 10-20-2006 , http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/external.php
(26 August 2011)
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while the other 15 interviewees state they are satisfied with their working conditions. What
should the conclusion be? Clearly, the small sample size (20 out of 5,000 = 4%), combined
with the (biased) (self-selected) sampling method, mean that the sample should not
necessarily be considered representative of the entire population. Furthermore, only 25%
(five out of 20 workers) of the sample, which is 1% of the total workforce, has provided
indications of labour rights breaches. Nevertheless, the fact remains that five workers have
experienced an infringement of their rights From SOMO’s perspective, even one human
rights abuse is one too many and provides justification for approaching the company to, at
the very least, ask for clarification of the situation.
All in all, random and reliable sampling is often neither required nor feasible in SOMO-type research.
Nevertheless, it is always required to be honest and transparent about the sampling methods and the
size of the sample on which the research findings are based. This is generally explained in the
methods section of a research report.
Piloting
“Piloting” in the context of research methods generally refers to doing a test-run of a questionnaire,
interview, or other research method you are planning to use with a few people similar to those you will
be targeting. This helps you to test the overall reliability of your instrument in terms of:

How clear the questions and/or instructions are.

Whether people can easily understand the language you have used.

How easy the instrument is for respondents to complete.

How long it takes to go through the questionnaire. Is it too long? Will people give up half way
through?

Whether it delivers the kind of data you are looking for.
You can then rework your instrument after the pilot to make it better.

Article IV

Interviews

An interview is a method of data collection in which the researcher has live contact with his or her
respondent(s). The interview can take several forms, including individual or group interviews, inperson or by telephone. An important difference with the questionnaire method (see below), is the fact
that the researcher interacts with the respondent during data collection. This gives the researcher the
chance to clarify questions when they are misunderstood, or ask additional questions if a respondent’s
answer to a question is unclear or requires additional elaboration. Interviews are thus more flexible
than questionnaires, but they also require more time and energy from the researcher given that the
researcher needs to take part in each conversation.
Interviews can have a varying degree of structure and can involve open and closed-answer questions.
A less structured with many open questions will be more flexible and can often result in surprising
outcomes, but the analysis of responses to less structured, open questions can be very time
consuming. Furthermore, with open questions it might be more difficult to reach coherent conclusions
from the different interviews, as the outcomes may be less comparable. Researchers can consider
mixing open and closed questions in interviews, including closed questions to collect comparable
information among interviewees and open questions for deeper and more vivid illustration of the
findings.
Below are a number of practical considerations to keep in mind when conducting an interview:

Determine in advance how you will document the interview. Possible documentation
techniques include voice recording, using notes, or transcription. Always be sure to obtain the
interviewee’s permission for your method of documenting the interview before you begin.
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Before starting the interview, inform the interviewee that he/she will have the chance to review
a draft of the report with his/her input before publication. Provide the interviewee with all
relevant information about the process and timing of the review.
Ask one question at a time (not multiple questions in one sentence). Thus NOT, “Have you
been discriminated against and how did you experience this?”, BUT, “Have you been
discriminated against? – wait for answer and then – “How did you experience this?”
Avoid steering, suggestive or loaded questions. Loaded questions are questions that may
influence the respondent, which subsequently influences the quality of your research findings.
A loaded question is a one in which you ask for confirmation of a value judgement, e.g.“Do
you think your employer discriminates against women?” An example of a neutral question into
the same topic is, “How do you feel women are treated in the work place?” In the first
example, the respondent might be actively trying to remember cases of discrimination,
triggering a more negative assessment of the employer than the second question may yield.
The second question is more neutral and therefore preferable.

Article V

Questionnaires

Questionnaires are the written, non-live version of interviews. In essence, they contain a written list of
questions that you want a respondent to answer. When developing a questionnaire, it is important to
determine the main purpose of the questionnaire because there is a trade-off to be made between the
comparability of the data collected and the depth of the insights gathered. As with interviews,
questionnaires using closed questions (e.g. using “Yes”/”No” anwers or scales) deliver comparable
data, are relatively easily analysed, and are generally more appropriate for a relative large sample
size. Open questions, on the other hand, may deliver more in-depth and unexpected insights, but are
harder to analyse and are more appropriate for studies with a smaller sample size.
In general, questionnaires have several advantages over interviews:

You can use a questionnaire to make sure all respondents are answering exactly the same
questions, so you can easily compare the answers.

You can control the amount of information respondents provide by, for example, making a
question closed-ended (to which a respondent can only answer “yes” or “no”) or open-ended
(for which a respondent can provide a longer written response).

You can reach a large group of geographically disperse respondents within a short period of
time.

You can fill in the questionnaire with the respondent, give it to individuals or groups and collect
it later, or post or fax it to respondents.

Questionnaires are generally less work and resource-intensive for the researcher than are
interviews.
Disadvantages over questionnaires include:

Unless you fill the questionnaire in with the respondents, you cannot check if they understand
the questions or if the correct/intended person is filling in the questionnaire.

There might be issues related to language and illiteracy in your research population, so asking
people to write down answers might not always work.

Mailed questionnaires often have a low response rate.
Be aware that you should not expect to get a 100% response rate on questionnaires you sent out. In
general, a 30-50% response rate is normal, although higher response rates can be achieved if the
sample size is small and you have time to follow-up with persons who have not responded. Below is a
list of practical considerations to keep in mind when designing questionnaire-based research to
increase the chances of a good response rate. Also note that a number of the considerations for
interviews listed above are also relevant for questionnaires.
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Send a pre-questionnaire letter a week or two in advance to the companies/respondents to
whom you will be sending the questionnaire. In the letter, announce that the questionnaire is
coming, mention the purpose of the research, request that the respondent confirm that he/she
is the correct contact person for the questionnaire, and request that the contact person
reserve time in his/her agenda to answer the questionnaire when it arrives.
Make sure the questionnaire is not too long and can be completed in a reasonable amount of
time
Make sure you use an attractive and clear layout
Provide a clear deadline for responses, allowing for a reasonable amount of time for
responding.
TIP: When collecting data from companies, make sure you are aware of the publicly available
information through its corporate website, and integrate this information in your questionnaire
and/or interview. Much CSR information is readily available on the web, so if you ask for the
obvious, you will get the obvious answer. If your questionnaire is well prepared and you have
done some preliminary research, you can significantly increase your chances of collecting
data beyond what is already available.

Interviews and questionnaires can also be combined in one research design. For instance, one could
use a company questionnaire to collect a first round of information and use follow-up interviews to
examine specific answers more in depth. Or the other way around, one could use interviews to get a
first tentative answer to a research question, and then use questionnaires to test the findings in a
wider research population.

Article VI

Company review

A crucial element of SOMO’s research methodology and protocol for company specific research
allowing companies mentioned in the research the opportunity to review a draft (section) of the report
before publication. The review process is described in detail in Module 2: Research Quality. The
review process functions as a quality check to avoid publishing inaccurate information about a
company, but the review can also serve as an additional data collection method, as managers wish to
explain their activities or refute draft findings by providing additional information. In fact, researchers
may chose use the review process as an explicit data collection technique by posing additional
questions to corporate representatives based on a draft report, or float suspicions to see what
response this will elicit.

Field research
Field research is a specific type of empirical research. In general, it is defined as research for which
data is collected “in the field”, meaning outside the walls of the research institute. In this manual, the
term “field research” is used more specifically to refer to data collection at the spot where the
corporate (mis)behaviour related to labour rights, human rights, and the environment that we want to
study is happening. This would include, for example, research in the factories where labour norms are
not being respected, or in the communities that suffer from corporate pollution.
The research subjects for this specific type of empirical research are thus workers and communities
are or may be experiencing harm related to corporate conduct and the corporate managers that may
be causing or have a role in that conduct. In SOMO’s line of research this will often, but not always, be
in middle and low-income countries. SOMO’s research subjects cannot always (easily) be reached
from behind a desk, and therefore we need to go into the “field” to find and approach them.
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Field research is important for SOMO to verify whether the policies of MNCs are actually put into
practice and to investigate the effects of initiatives like codes of conduct or certification schemes. This
means that SOMO undertakes field research as part of its research on MNCs as much as possible, in
terms of time and resources. This field research is where most of the cooperation between SOMO and
partners in the Global South takes place. SOMO always aims to engage with local research
organizations to develop a research plan based on the needs and capacities of both organisations and
then have the partner organisation conduct the actual field research, often funded by SOMO. SOMO
researchers themselves are thus not “in the field” for in each and every research project, but do
closely collaborate with partners in the field to develop the research plan and methodology, discuss
draft results, and write up the research report for publication. For reasons of both capacity building and
research quality, SOMO strives to build up long-term relationships with research partners in the South.

Article VII

Overview of field research techniques

Table 15 summarizes some of the most commonly used field research data collection methods, how
to use them, and their advantages and disadvantages:
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Table 15: Overview of field research methods and techniques
Method

How to use this method

Advantages

Disadvantages

Interviews

Interviews are conversations in
which you ask someone questions
face-to-face or over the telephone.
Interviews can be structured or
unstructured.

Structured interview: Use a
questionnaire you have drawn
up beforehand and ask the
questions in order.

Unstructured or semistructured interview: Have a
central topic or a few main
research questions but not a list
of pre-determined questions.
As you talk to the interviewee,
you follow-up on things she has
said, ask for more information,
ask her for further explanation,
and so on.

Interviews allow the researcher a good
deal of control over the information
collected because of the direct contact
between the researcher and the
respondent. Interviews allow you to
ensure that the correct person is
providing the response and that the
questions are being understood. You can
clarify questions, probe responses and
observe body language.

Interviews can be costly in terms of time and financial
resources (you need to travel to physically visit the
interviewee, and you need to go when the interviewee is
available).

Focus groups

This is a type of interview that you
conduct with a group of people at
once (usually not more than ten).
You facilitate discussion using a set
of semi-structured questions that
focus the attention of the group.
Participants get to hear what others
say, and make comments of their
own. They do not have to agree!

Focus groups can be an efficient field
research method because you can get a
lot of information from a lot of people in a
relatively short time.
Participants tend to act as a kind of check
and balance on each other, so extreme
views are less likely (if you just
interviewed one or two people, you might
only hear these views, and believe that
everyone felt this way).
Participants often enjoy the process.

You cannot ask many questions, because everyone has to
have a chance to respond to each one.
You need to be good at managing a group, and making
sure that one person does not dominate and that conflict is
dealt with sensitively - this can be tiring and stressful.
Often people who feel that they have less power may not
talk, in particular women. You should be aware of those
who are NOT talking, and try to make space for them to
have their say.
It can be difficult to take good notes while chairing/running
the group. It is thus recommendable to have two
researchers (one chairing the meeting and one taking
notes) or to video or audio record the discussion.

Life stories

Detailed, engaging testimony of life
experiences of the research

Engaged research into the subjective
realities of people's experience. Helps to

It may be hard to find participants that are willing to share
their life stories. Anonymity may be a prerequisite to get

Conducting an effective interview is not a straightforward
task. It is a skill that requires considerable training and
practice. Poor interviews will provide little, incomplete, or
dubious information. In a participatory approach where
community members are involved in the data gathering
processes, interview training and careful supervision is
essential.

participant, preferably in first
person.

reconstruct the real experiences of
research participants. Can provide the
reader/audience with sweeping accounts
and is as such potentially a strong
persuasion tool. Specifically suitable for
understanding of complex concepts like
‘poverty’. Democratizes knowledge.

people to participate. Because of the personal nature, life
stories are inherently subjective, and thus not
representative for a research population at large.

Observation

Observation means simply watching
your research subjects or situation
to see what happens. The two types
of observation are overt and
covert. During overt observation,
the role of the researcher is known
to the people being observed. With
covert or unobtrusive observation,
those being observed are unaware
of the researcher. Covert
observation can involve ethical
dilemmas because of the deception
involved.

Observation can produce rich and
valuable information . Your research will
often be taken much more seriously if you
actually saw something (eg: poor factory
conditions) but you may have to prove
that you saw it.

Like interviews, observation can be very time consuming
and therefore costly. Observation often results in a mass of
field notes that can be difficult to analyse. It may be difficult
to prove that you saw something - you may need to record
it with a video camera or photographic camera (which can
be expensive and require good training to do properly).
Overt observation may change what you observe knowing that you are watching often changes people’s
behaviour (sometimes unintentionally).
You may run into trouble with covert observation when
your findings are published due to the deception involved.

Video/audio
recording

This is a recorded observation
reflecting the images and sounds
observed in the field.

Video/audio recording is a powerful and
modern medium. The findings it reflects
are not easily refuted. It delivers reliable
and direct access to information. It offers
multiple avenues for follow-up strategies,
including dissemination of the research
results via the internet and social media,
thus giving it a significant reach and
persuasiveness

The challenge with recording video/audio obtaining the
free, prior and informed consent of the research subjects.
Many people do not like for their images or voices to be
caught on tape for fear of reprisals. Often, the most
compelling images must be covertly collected (e.g. secretly
recording labour rights breaches in a factory), and the use
of this information involves considerable reputational, legal
and security risks (for the researcher and publisher of the
information.

Participatory
action research

Participatory action research is an
alternative to the traditional scientific
way of developing knowledge,
based on values of empowerment,
democracy, equity, liberation and
life enhancement. Instead of the
top-down research approach

This research approach is specifically
valuable when the research intention is
that to have the participants own and
subsequently use the research findings.

Participatory action research is very resource intensive,
and requires considerable skill. In a participatory approach
where community members are involved in the data
gathering processes, interview training and careful
supervision is essential.
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conceived and executed by experts
far from the people studied and the
actions and processes under
investigation, it is a more dialectic,
interactive research approach. It
refers to an approach to inquiry:

that is rigorously empirical and
reflective (or interpretative)

engages people who have
traditionally been called
subjects as active participants
in the research process

results in some practical
outcome related to the lives
12
and works of participants.
Source: SOMO.

12

J.M. Chevalier and D.J. Buckles, SAS2- a guide to collaborative inquiry and social engagement (New Delhi: Sage publications, 2008); E.T. Stringer, Action Research second edition
(Thousand Oaks, Sage, 1999)
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Empirical research checklist
The table 16 below provides a practical checklist to guard the quality of your empirical research.
Table 16: Empirical research checklist and additional considerations
Empirical research checklist

Additional considerations

Have you conducted a preliminary inquiry to verify the
necessity and relevance conducting empirical
research? In other words, are you sure that the data
you want to collect is not already available?
Can your research question be answered by the data
you expect to collect?
Is your sample as representative as possible for your
research population?
Have you prepared well for your data collection?

See list with practical concerns above

Have you tested your research method?
Are you aware of the limitations of your research
methods?
Have you verified your findings?

Always acknowledge the limitations of your research
methods in the methods section of your research
report
Try to find additional support for your findings in other
sources. In case of company specific research a
company review is crucial.

Research Manual

Module 6: Research Evaluation
The purpose of evaluation
Evaluations are undertaken to learn from and improve the research design and process and to
increase effectiveness in the future. Although a time investment is required, the ideal is that this time
will be won back later by increased effectiveness. A research evaluation can be divided in three main
parts: evaluation of the research product or output (e.g. the research report), the research process,
and the outcomes or effects of the research (report). The checklist in the following section elaborates
upon elements of each type of evaluation.
An evaluation is normally conducted at the closing of a research project. However, the effects of the
research might not be visible immediately, and thus it may be required to schedule an effect
evaluation later in time.
In order to be most effective and to generate genuine feedback and learning effects, evaluation
processes should be embedded in the working procedures of the research organisation. If feedback
loops are not built in in organizational processes, the effects of evaluation will likely not be taken up
beyond the individuals involved in the evaluation. At SOMO, evaluations take place at the project level
as well as the research level because research is often one element in a broader project. As part of
SOMO’s primary organizational processes, an evaluation is conducted at the end of every project and
shared with the entire organisation. A checklist for such an evaluation, including the research specificelement, can be found in Table 17. For an evaluation form to be used in service projects, see Annex
‘project evaluation form’.
For both the overall project evaluation and the research evaluation, it is generally a good idea for two
or more members of the project/research team to fill in the checklist. For an even more thorough
evaluation, it might be a good idea to involve target groups by, for example, contacting a
representative of the target group and assess how the research has been received, how widely it was
spread, how influential it was, etc.
Table 17: Research evaluation checklist
Key evaluation criteria

Project management

Research ethics

Research problems and
objectives

Yes

No

Unsure/
Partially

Comments

Did the project management provide
the needed organisational support
the research?
Was the interest (consent/review) of
the respondents taken into account?
Was the safety of the researchers
taken into account?
Were the expectations of the
stakeholders involved taken into
account?
Did the objectives of the research
match the outcomes?
Could the objectives of the research
been achieved more effectively?

62

How What design elements could
have increased effectiveness?

Research questions

Research quality
Writing

Reporting

Stakeholder involvement in
the evaluation
Project group dynamics
Continuous improvement

Are the follow-up activities that were
originally planned still suitable?
Did the research results answer the
research question?
Did the research questions fit the
objectives and problems that had
been identified?
Was the company review included
and conducted adequately?
Does the final research report
contain logical organization, precise
expression of thought, correct
grammar (spelling, punctuation,
tense usage), and professional
language?
Did the reporting format serve the
informational needs of the
research’s target groups and
stakeholders?
Would it be useful to send a short
evaluation format to (some of the)
stakeholders?
Are all team members satisfied with
the full research process?
Did you experience any need for
guidance that was not covered in
this manual?
Did your research deliver any
insights that might be useful to
integrate in this research manual?

Use the comment function of
the online research manual to
submit your suggestions for
improvement
Use the comment function of
the online research manual to
submit your suggestions for
improvement
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Annex 1: References to information sources
This overview summarizes how references should be made in footnotes in all SOMO reports,
according to the SOMO research manual. Consult the manual for further information.
Source

Description of reference

Example of reference

Article in
journal or
magazine

Footnote no.. Author(s), “Title,” Name
G. Naam, “Corporate governance – the challenge of
of magazine and if relevant issuer,
diversity,” Akzo Nobel News & Views, 7 (November
Volume no. (Year or date), p. Page
1997), p. 4-9.
no..

Newspaper
article

Footnote no.. Author(s), “Title,” Name
T. Marshall, "200th Birthday of Grimms Celebrated," Los
of newspaper, Date, sec. Section no.,
Angeles Times, 15 March 1985, sec. 1A, p. 3.
p. Page no..

Electronic
newspaper
article

Footnote no.. Author(s), “Title,” Name
G. Van Teeffelen, “Ahold wapent zich tegen ‘zwarte
of newspaper, Date of source,
dood’,” Volkskrant, 24 December 2004,
<Weblink> (Date of retrieval), p. Page
<http://www.volkskrant.nl> (28 December 2004).
no..

Footnote no.. Author(s), Title (Place
Book, report or
of publishing: Publisher, Year or
leaflet
date), p. Page no..
Electronic
book or report

J. Banfield, V. Haufler & D. Lilly, Transnational
Corporations in Conflict Prone Zones (London:
International Alert, September 2003), p. 45-51.

Footnote no.. Author(s), Title, Date of AccountAbility/BSR, Pharmaceutical Sector Report,
source, <Weblink> (Date of retrieval), December 2004, <http://www.economicfootprint.org> (12
p. Page no..
January 2005).

Footnote no.. Author(s) (if known),
Website name or description,
Information
Website section, “Page title or
from a website
header,” Date of source, <Weblink>
(Date of retrieval).

Ahold website, Vision, “Ahold and Human Rights,” no
date, <http://www.ahold.com/index.asp?id=92> (17
March 2005).

Interview

Footnote no.., Interviewed person or
‘anonymous’, function,
Company/organization, Place of
interview, Date, interview by
Interviewer or ‘author’.

P. Lindenbergh, Head labour affairs, Ahold Netherlands,
Zaandam, 22 February 2005, interview by author.

Telephone
interview

Footnote no.., Interviewed person or
‘anonymous’, Function,
Company/organization, Date,
telephone call with Interviewer or
‘author’.

P. Lindenbergh, Head labour affairs, Ahold Netherlands,
22 February 2005, telephone call with F. Weyzig.

E-mail

Footnote no.., Sender, Function,
Company/organization, e-mail Date
sent.

S. Gilchrist, corporate public policy advisor, Aventis
Pasteur, e-mail 21 June 2004.

Chapter in an
edited book

Footnote no.. Author(s) of chapter,
“Chapter title,” in Book title, Ed(s).
Editor(s) (Place of publishing:
Publisher, Year or date), p. Page no..

T. Etty, “Oud en Nieuw in de rol van de vakbeweging,” in
De nieuwe rolverdeling in de internationale economische
orde, Eds. W. Van Genugten & R. Lubbers (Nijmegen:
Wolf, 1999), p. 14.

Resolution,
regulation or
other official
document

Footnote no.. Organization, Type and
European Union, Council Regulation (EC) No.
no. of document, Date (of adoption),
2368/2002, 20 December 2002, “Implementing the
“Title (if applicable),” p. Page no. (if
Kimberley Process certification scheme.”
applicable).

Source with
more than 3
authors

Footnote no.. First author et al., Title, D. Held et al., Global Transformations (Cambridge: Polity
Rest of reference.
Press, 1999), p. 216.

Footnote no.. Original author,
Secondary or
“Original title (if applicable),” Rest of
indirect source original reference, quoted in
Secondary author, Secondary title,

G. Kleisterlee, interview, quoted in X. Van Uffelen,
"Philips is fout bezig," Verzonnen Dagblad, 15 March
1999, sec. Economie, p. 17.
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Rest of secondary reference.
Source of
which the
perspective is
relevant

Footnote no.. Author, Title, Author’s
and/or commissioning organization
and type and no. (if applicable) of
document, Rest of reference.

M. Van der Meer et al., Globalisation, a study of the
Amsterdam Institute for Advanced Labour Issues
commissioned by FNV (Amsterdam: FNV Pers, 2004).

Try to make references as specific and complete as possible.

If a source has an unknown author, consider again whether it is useful and reliable. If so, 1)
mention the organization or company that issued or wrote the source and whose view is
represented, or 2) mention ‘unknown author’, or 3) for an electronic source, leave out.

If a source has an unknown publisher, 1) refer to the electronic version on a website, or 2)
mention the organization or company that issued or wrote the source and whose view is
represented, or 3) when this is the same as the author, leave out.

If a source is of an unknown date, 1) for an electronic source, mention only the date of
retrieval, or 2) mention ‘no date’.
To make the report easier to read, endnotes may be used instead of footnotes. Endnotes may be
places either at the end of each chapter or at the end of the whole report and should be numbered per
chapter.
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Annex 2: Contents Page of CSR Company
Profile
An analysis on CSR policies could contain the following information:
Introduction: CSR Analysis on company level
Describe research methods and used sources.
1. Company Profile
What are the main products and activities, and where are the production locations? Is the company
operating in high risk countries?
2. CSR issues within the sector
What are the main problems (critical issues) related to social, environmental and labour conditions in
the specific sector in which the company operates? Identify the viewpoints and positions of civil
society organisations on the identified issues in the sector
3. Scan on negative publicity on CSR issues
Has the company ever experienced negative publicity relating to its corporate social responsibility
practices? This is an addition to the evaluation of a company’s CSR approach. Whereas good CSR
policies and implementation thereof is an important aspect, it needs to be verified that such policies
are effective. Therefore, a scan of relevant media, trade union and NGO websites such as those of socalled watchdog organisations will provide additional information about the practices of a company.
4. Interpretation of the company’s CSR policy

Does the company have a corporate code of conduct?

Does the company policy cover all the relevant aspects of CSR (social, environmental and
economic responsibility)? See for the internationally accepted standards and definitions in the
‘CSR Frame of Reference’ of the CSR Platform, the network of Dutch NGOs that work on
CSR.

Does the company recognize the relevant sector-specific standards?

Who (in the company) is responsible for the CSR policy?
5. The implementation of the CSR policy
The question here is how the CSR policy is implemented. Is CSR embedded in the management
systems of the company? Is there a policy for suppliers? Is there an internal monitoring system? Is
there involvement of relevant stakeholders? Does the company have an independent compliance
verification system, how transparent is the company in reporting on the monitoring activities?

The CSR company analysis

Risk Analysis: based on the information in the company profile, the results of an analysis of
the CSR issues in the specific sector and the scan on negative publicity, an inventory can be
made of all doubtful practices the company has been engaged in and what has been the
reaction of the company on allegations of environmental, labour and human rights
organisations.
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Policy Analysis: Researchers examine how the company’s policies relate to international
standards (such as the ILO Conventions) and national laws. What is the quality of the CSR
policy?
Analysis of Policy Implementation: At what stage or level is the company in the
implementation of its CSR policy?
Attachments: In the attachment you can add the company code of conduct, the CSR company
policy, relevant sector codes, and relevant articles.
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Annex 3: Contents Page of General Company
Profile
Example A:
General characteristics

Name of the holding company

Contact information of the headquarters: address, telephone, e-mail, website

Characterization of the ownership structure: quoted on the stock exchange or private
company, main shareholders

Basic economic-financial characteristics of the company: turnover and profit*

Characterization of its activities: Products, trade-marks, services

Characterization of its organisational structure: management structure and functional structure
(e.g. divisions, business units)

Position in the sector: how is it situated in relation to other companies

International presence: subsidiaries worldwide
Production

Turnover and profit per division and region*

Production locations

Amount of employees per division and region*

The company in the production chain, main suppliers, main customers, use of third parties
Strategy

Short history of the company (how it got there)

Main developments last 10 years

Strategy on:






Main developments employment worldwide and expected future developments:




Investments, take-overs, disinvestments, outsourcing
Concentration on products?
Concentration on countries, regions?
Increase of temporarily (irregular) employees?

Purchasing practices: pricing, delivery times, stability of relations

Example B:









Business description: A detailed description of the company’s operations and business
divisions.
Corporate strategy: A description of the company’s business strategy.
SWOT Analysis: An analysis of the company’s strengths, weakness, opportunities and threats.
Company history: Progression of key events associated with the company. Including overview
of recent mergers and acquisitions.
Major products and services: A list of major products, services and brands of the company.
Key competitors: A list of key competitors to the company.
Key employees: A list of the key executives of the company.
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Important locations and subsidiaries: A list and contact details of key locations and
subsidiaries of the company.
Detailed financial ratios for the past five years: The latest financial ratios derived from the
annual financial statements published by the company with 5 years history. Including the
revenue trends, profitability, growth, margins and returns, liquidity and leverage, financial
position and efficiency ratios.
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Annex 4: Keeping a logbook of activities
Apart from noting references, it can be very helpful to keep a logbook of activities, which provides an
overview and a timeline of the research. As situations may change over time, it is important to note
when information was obtained. Sometimes it can take several months between a particular interview
with a worker, and the publication of the research findings. It is particularly important to keep a time
logbook when research is done on corporations. Most of the time, such research results in publicity in
Northern countries, and in discussions between NGOs, trade unions and the company involved. Many
times, the companies will deny any negative allegations. When such situations occur, it is essential to
have a good record of when the research was undertaken, thereby improving the credibility of the
findings.
Example:
Date
20-042006
20-042006
20-042006

Contact /
activity
Website
search
Website
search
Website
search

External contact /
information source
Engen site

20-042006

Website
search

Goliath

20-042006
20-042006

Website
search
Website
search

Chambers of
Commerce
Petronas

20-042006
20-042006

Website
search
Database
search

WIAH

20-042006
21-042006

Website
search
Database
search

SDCEA and others

BHR site
MBendi

LexisNexis

LexisNexis

Short description of contents,
agreements or results / findings
Company info, Sustainability
Report, no annual report
Company info Engen: 1BBC article
Company info: profile of Engen
Petroleum Ltd and some foreign
subsidiaries
Company info: profiles of some
foreign subsidiaries available at
$30
Very brief company profile only
Annual report: some useful
financial info, some merger info.
CSR: only very limited info on
environment.
Annual report: some merger info.
Company information and B&D
South Africa, only non-trivial
information for foreign subsidiaries
found.
Scan on negative publicity
News articles on Engen, EN
language news last two years,
search on ‘profit’ (1 good hit),
‘pollut! or contaminat! or
environment! or safe! or air! or
violat! or illegal!’ (no good hits)

Remarks or additional
information
Via http://www.engen.co.za
Via http://www.businesshumanrights.org
Via http://www.mbendi.co.za

Via http://goliath.ecnext.com

Via
http://www.capechamber.co.za
Via
http://www.petronas.com.my

Via http://www.waih.co.za
Via http://www.lexis.com

Via Google, http://www.hnet.org/~esati/sdcea/index.html
Via http://www.lexis.com

Research note:
Always make sure that all sources used for the research are stored! Websites that are referred to should always
be printed or a copy should be saved on disk. Contacts with a company or other organizations must also be fully
mentioned in the log. However,in this case only desk research was performed.
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Annex 5: Reading financial statements and
analysing companies’ tax contributions
This guide is very specific and will be update with results from the tax training of October 2011. To get
a general overview of tax planning structures, read Chapter 1 and Chapter 2/part 2 of the Tax Toolkit.
To understand Dutch conduit structures (which are relevant to the use financial holding structures
referred to below), read the SOMO tax report from 2007, and see the Annexes NL conduit attached
to this guide.

Finding the right report
The easiest way to obtain the annual report of a company is to go to the investors section of the
company website, for example http://www.unilever.com/ourcompany/investorcentre. Usually there will
be a sub-section where you can download reports.
Some companies have different types of annual reports. The following types are most common.

Annual review. This is a summary version of the normal annual report (sometimes it has
more pictures).

Annual report, or annual reports and accounts. This is the full report including the financial
statements.

Form 20-F report (sometimes in a separate sub-section of the company website). This is an
annual report prepared by US-listed companies for the US Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). Sometimes it contains the same information as the annual report and has
a different structure only, but sometimes it is more detailed than the normal annual report.
Apart from these main types of reports, the annual reports section of a company website may list other
documents as well, such as a review of operations or a directors’ remuneration report. Some of these
documents may provide additional information on specific issues, but usually they are just sections of
the annual report published as separate documents. The following are worth mentioning.

Consolidated financial statements or financial report. This is just the second part of a full
annual report. NB: Consolidated statements include financial information of the company and
all its subsidiaries of which it holds 50% or more

Parent company financial statements. These are unconsolidated annual accounts. Unlike
the consolidated financial statements, they provide separate data on the parent company of
the multinational, excluding all the subsidiaries. If such statements are available, they are
usually included in the annual report or form 20-F report.

Historical overview with figures over the last 5 or 10 years. Such an overview is usually not
included in annual reports and can be helpful to analyse developments over time.
See http://www.bp.com/investors and http://www.unilever.com/ourcompany/investorcentre for
examples of companies that publish all types of documents listed above.
As a rule of thumb, download the most detailed annual report available, which is the 20-F or the
normal annual report, and don't care about the other reports. It is often useful to download not just the
latest report, but also the reports for several previous years. Also download the historical overview, if
available.
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Some companies also publish a sustainability report or a corporate responsibility report. Such
reports may contain additional financial information, so it is a good idea to download these as well.

The structure of an annual report
Annual reports have a more or less standardised structure. In general, a report consists of two main
parts.

Operational review. The operational review describes how the business and strategy of the
company has developed over the past year. It includes a general description of the company’s
business and an analysis of the markets in which the company operates. Sometimes it has
separate chapters on different business divisions. Although the operational review includes
many graphs and tables with financial data, this part of the report is not so relevant for a
financial analysis. Usually all the financial data in the operational review is also included in the
financial statements, often in a more structured way and in more detail.

Financial statements. These are the company’s annual accounts with explanatory notes.
This is the part of the annual report that you need to focus on. Often the financial statements
have a separate table of contents at the beginning of this second part of the annual report.
As with everything in the annual reports, the operational review and financial statements can have
different names. Sometimes they are preceded by a few pages that highlight the most important
developments during the past year and provide some legal information about the company.
The financial statements also have a more or less standardised structure. The main parts are the
following.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities. This is a short section explaining the
responsibilities of directors with regard to the preparation of the financial statements.

Independent auditor’s report. This section indicates the information in the annual report that
has been audited, explains the responsibilities of the auditor and gives the opinion of the
auditor about the financial report.

Consolidated balance sheet. The balance sheet provides an overview of all assets to which
the company is entitled and of the company’s liabilities to other parties at the end of the year.

Consolidated income statement. The income statement provides an overview of the
revenues and costs of the company over the past year.

Consolidated cash flow statement. The cash flow statement section provides an overview of
all money transactions performed by the company over the past year.

Accounting policies. These explain the rules that have been used to prepare the financial
statements.

Notes to the consolidated accounts. Many items in the balance sheet, income statement,
and cash flow statement refer to explanatory notes. These notes are numbered and explain
the items that they refer to in more detail.

Parent company financial accounts. These are unconsolidated annual accounts that
provide separate data on the parent company of the multinational, excluding all the
subsidiaries.
The order of the parts mentioned above can de different and some companies include additional
sections, such as a consolidated statement of recognised income and expense. In this manual, we
focus on the balance sheet, income statement, cash flow statement, and the explanatory notes.
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Key terms

Equivalents

Operational review
Financial statements
Consolidated (accounts)
Income statement

Operating review, report of the directors
Financial section, financial report, annual accounts
Group (accounts)
Profit & loss statement, income account, statement of operations

Reading the balance sheet
This section provides a basic explanation of a company’s balance sheet. It deals with the balance
sheet of non-financial companies only. The balance sheet of financial companies (banks, insurance
companies, pension funds, or investment funds) is different.
In a traditional layout, the balance sheet has two sides (see model below). On the left side are the
assets. These show the value of all the possessions of a company, such as plants or brand names,
as well as payments that the company is entitled to, such as receipts from debtors. On the right side
are the liabilities, which consist of debts and other financial obligations of the company, and equity,
which is the part of the company’s capital that belongs to the shareholders. As all assets minus the
liabilities of a company belong to the shareholders, the total value of all items on the left side of the
balance sheet are always equal to the total value of all items on the right side. This total value of
called the balance sheet total or simply total assets. All items on the balance sheet show the value
of assets or liabilities at a specific point in time. In annual reports, the balance sheet shows the
situation at the end of a company's financial year.
Assets
Fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets
Financial fixed assets
Current assets
Inventories
Receivables
Liquid assets

Total assets

€ mln
27,374
16,755
6,284
4,335
9,928
3,894
4,561
1,473

37,302

Equity and liabilities
Total equity
Shareholders’ equity
Minority interests

€ mln
12,819
12,387
432

Long-term liabilities
Long-term debt
Provisions
Other long-term liabilities

10,924
5,482
3,791
1,650

Current liabilities
Short-term loans
Trade creditors
Other current liabilities

13,559
4,166
8,017
1,376

Total equity and liabilities

37,302

The model above shows the main items on the balance sheet. As an example, it shows the values
from Unilever’s balance sheet as at 31 December 2007. The different items will be briefly explained.
Fixed assets are all assets that are not readily available in the short term (within a year) to pay
creditors of the company. These can be divided into the following:

Intangible fixed assets consist of goodwill and intellectual property. Goodwill arises when a
company takes over another company and reflects the value of the combined company’s
ability to make higher profits. Intellectual property consists of patents, copyrights, and
trademarks.

Tangible fixed assets consist of land, buildings, machinery, equipment and other similar
property.
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Financial fixed assets are long-term loans provided by the company, minority shareholdings
in other companies, and deferred tax assets (due after one year or more). Deferred tax assets
are tax credits, for example related to current losses, from which the company will benefit in
the future. This works as follows; There is a difference between profit shown on a balance
sheet and taxable profit. This is due to exemptions, lower or higher deductions. etc. There are
2 types of differences:

Permanent differences that never change, such as exemptions

Timing differences that get reversed or ironed out over time, such as depreciation
Due to timing differences tax payments get deferred. When a company will have to pay a
lower amount of tax in the subsequent years due to timing differences, then such an amount is
treated as a Deferred Tax Asset on the balance sheet.
Current assets are all assets that can be used to pay creditors of the company or that will
generate cash in the short term (within a year). These can be divided into the following:

Inventories are the raw materials and finished products that a company has in stock
as well as the value of unfinished projects.

Receivables are the amounts due to the company (within a year) by clients and other
debtors, including deferred tax assets.
Liquid assets are tradable securities and cash.
Total equity is the value of the company's capital that belongs to all types of shareholders.
The following types can be distinguished:

Shareholders’ equity is the part that belongs to shareholders of the parent company
of the multinational.

Minority interests is the part that belongs to other direct shareholders of subsidiaries
of the multinational. The parent company of the multinational is (directly or indirectly)
the majority shareholder of these subsidiaries.
Long-term liabilities are all the long-term financial obligations of the company (due after one
year or more). The main types are the following:

Long-term debt includes loans from banks and other companies as well as bonds.

Provisions for pensions of employees and other long-term obligations.

Other long-term liabilities include deferred tax liabilities (due after one year or more).
Deferred tax liabilities are taxes on current profits that need to be paid in the future.
Current liabilities are all the short-term financial obligations of the company (due within one
year). The main types are the following:

Short-term loans to banks and other companies.

Trade creditors for pensions of employees and other long-term obligations.

Other current liabilities include deferred tax liabilities (due within one year).

In practice, companies do not follow the traditional layout, but use different formats. The two examples
below show the global balance sheet layout of Unilever and Pfizer, respectively (the values in both
examples are from Unilever).

74

Balance sheet example 1
Fixed assets
Current assets

€ mln
27,374

Balance sheet example 2

€ mln

Current assets

9,928

9,928

Fixed assets

27,374

Current liabilities

13,559

Total assets

37,302

Net current assets
(= current assets less current
liabilities)

–3,631

Current liabilities

13,559

Long-term liabilities

10,924

Total assets less current
liabilities

23,743

Long-term liabilities

10,924

Total equity

12,819

Total capital employed
(= long-term liabilities + total
equity)

23,743

Minority Interests

432

Shareholders Equity

12,387

Total liabilities and equity

37,302

Calculating financial measures from the balance sheet
The balance sheet allows you to calculate a few basic financial measures.
There exist several measures for solvability, which is a company’s ability to repay its long-term debt,
and for financial leverage, which says something about the financial risk-taking of a company. A
common measure is the debt ratio, calculated as total liabilities / total assets. A ratio above 1.0
indicates that the company has more debt than assets. An acceptable debt ratio is a maximum of 2 :
1, and a ratio of less than 20% (0.2) is viewed as very good. Generally, any company that has a debt
to equity ratio of over 40 to 50% should be looked at more carefully to make sure there are no liquidity
problems. A low debt ratio indicates that the amount of debts is relatively low, in other words, the
company has a low leverage. A substantial part of the company’s assets is financed by equity. The
assets of the company may provide a relatively high security to its credit providers and hence the
company has a relatively low risk profile. A high ratio means that a very large part of the company's
assets is financed with debt, in other words, the company has a high leverage. Only a small part of the
company's assets is financed with equity. The assets of the company do not provide a lot of security
against the claims of all credit providers. Due to the high leverage, small variations in the return on the
company's total assets result in large variations in the return for shareholders.
There exist several measures for liquidity, which is the ability of a company to meet its short-term
obligations. A common measure is the current ratio, calculated as current assets / current
liabilities. A current ratio smaller than one suggests that a company may have difficulties meeting its
short-term obligations. However, this measure may be misleading because it shows the situation on
one specific moment in time and does not take into account new revenues or expenditures that are
expected in the near future.
There exist many different financial ratios. More information about these is readily available from the
Internet, for example at http://www.netmba.com/finance/financial/ratios. Note that there might be slight
variations in the definition of a ratio. Sometimes the debt ratio is calculated as total long-term and
short-term debts, excluding other liabilities, divided by total assets, for example. Furthermore, financial
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ratios may be misleading for various reasons. Some future financial obligations may not be apparent
from the balance sheet, for example. If you try to interpret financial ratios, always compare them to the
ratios of other companies in the same industry. What is relatively high in one industry might be low in
another.
Key terms

Equivalents

Balance sheet total
Equity
Fixed (assets or liabilities)
Tangible fixed assets
Financial fixed assets
Net current assets
Net assets

Total assets (= total equity and liabilities)
Shareholders’ funds
Non-current (assets or liabilities), long-term (assets or liabilities)
Plants, property & equipment
Investments and long-term loans
Current assets less current liabilities
Total assets minus total liabilities (= total equity)

Understanding minority interests
A multinational consists of a parent company and many subsidiary companies:
Parent

Joint venture partner

company

Holding / Operating company

Subsidiary
Subsidiary

Subsidiary

In case a subsidiary has more than one parent, control is determined by the % of ownership or by
agreement. When control is determined by the % of ownership, the following rules are in place:

When a company has more than 50% of ownership, this is called a controlling interest. In
the consolidated annual accounts of the multinational, the figures from the individual accounts
of the subsidiary are 100% included.

When a company has 50% ownership or less, this is called a minority interest. In the
consolidated annual accounts of the multinational, the figures from the individual accounts of
the company are not included. In that case, these figures may be included in the accounts of
the joint venture partner, if the joint venture partner has a controlling interest in the subsidiary.
Strictly speaking, a company is a subsidiary of a multinational only if it is controlled by that multinational,
that is, in the case of majority ownership. If it is partly owned but not controlled by a multinational
(minority interest), it is called an ‘affiliate’ or ‘associated company’ of that multinational. A ‘Joint Venture’
or a ‘group company’ can refer to both minority and majority ownership companies.
All companies have different definitions to describe their minority interest companies. For example, a
share between 50% and 15% may be called a joint venture, and a share of less than 15% is called an
associate.
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Example controlling interest:

Balance sheet 60% subsidiary
Plants € 100
Cash

€ 200

Equity

Income statement 60% subsidiary

€ 150

€ 400

Sales

External loans € 150

Costs € 300

Profit € 100

Balance sheet controlling multinational

Plants

€ 1000

Equity

(incl. €90 of equity 60% subsidiary)

(incl. plants of 60% subsidiary)
Cash
(incl. cash of 60% subsidiary)

€ 2000

€ 3000

External loans (incl. of subsidiary) € 2000
Minority interests

€ 60

All
entriesminority
on the balance
sheet of the 60% subsidiary are included in the balance sheet and
Example
interest:
income statement of the controlling multinational. Of the equity of the 60% subsidiary, 60% (€
Balance
sheet as
40%
affiliate
90)
is entered
equity
on the balance sheet of the controlling multinational, and € 60 is
Plants € 100
Equity
€ 150
entered as minority interests
(of other companies or individual shareholders in specific
Cash € 200
External loans € 150
subsidiaries of the multinational).
The income statement of the controlling multinational contains all profit of the 60% subsidiary.
Income statement 40% affiliate
The
share of the net profit that belongs to the joint venture partner (€ 60) is mentioned as a
Sales € 400
separate
Costs € item
300 on the income statement, usually somewhere at the end, after net profit.
Profit

€ 100

The individual items of the 40% affiliate are not included in the balance sheet or income

Essent
Annual Report 2008:
statement of the multinational with the minority interest.

On the income statement the profit of the 40% affiliate is visible through the entry:
‘Share of result of joint ventures and associates’, here 40% of the net profit of the affiliate is
included.
Minority interests is 213.6
(Essent Annual Report 2008: P. 59: Share of result of joint ventures and associates IS 51.6)

P. 60: Equity of Essent is 5,039

Both the multinational with the controlling interest as the joint venture partner with the minority interest
can be called to account about the behaviour of the jointly owned company.
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Analysing tax-related company structures (e.g. holdings)
It is worthwhile to analyze a multinationals internal holding structure to check whether
a) the company is active in illogical locations (suggesting tax avoidance strategies or other dubious
financial constructions),
b) has internal financing companies that might play a crucial role in tax avoidance strategies or other
dubious financial constructions. Subsidiary names that include the words ‘Finance’ or ‘Insurance’
suggest a role of a subsidiary in the financing of the company. Especially when these financing
companies are located in tax havens, it is worthwhile to retrieve the chamber of commerce reports of
these companies to check their balance sheet. If it becomes clear that large amounts of money appear
on this balance sheet, it is worthwhile to ask the parent company for explanation about the role of this
company.
Financial holding structures
The holding structure of a multinational can be analysed using the following methods.
The financial holding structure of Dutch companies and foreign companies operating in the
Netherlands can be found in the ‘Reach’ database: Only for Dutch companies or foreign companies in
the Netherlands)
For foreign companies, such detailed information about the holding structure provided by Reach is
often not available, but the Taxtracker website -Taxtracker.attac.se- provides a portal to chamber-ofcommerce-type information per country and region.
For European companies, the European Business Registration provides a useful source of company
information: it provides all the registered subsidiaries of a company in a selected country.
Using Reach
To use the Reach database of Bureau van Dijk, you need a membership. This is costly but in most
occasions the Reach database is accessible with an account from a Dutch university as well.
The Reach database contains financial and company information of 1.8 million companies in the
Netherlands.

Go to reach.bvdep.com/ip/

Log in

Find the company you are investigating through Quick Search or Expert Search

In Quick Search you can search on name, localisation, industry, category and size.

In Expert Search you can search on more characteristics such as identification numbers,
activities etc.

The easiest way to search is on company name.

The screen with the Search summary appears with the selected search criteria and several
options to show the results.

Options to show your search results are a List, Company report, Peer report, Peer analyses or
Other analyses. The most complete information about a company you can find in a company
report.

Data can be exported from Reach to several other applications and formats such as Excel,
Word, Rich Text Format and ASCII. You can open the file or save it to your computer. The
download starts automatically. After the download, you can close this window.
Using Taxtracker:

Go to Taxtracker.attac.se
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Log in:
Name: taxual
password: healing
Select country/region of the company or company subsidiary you would like more information
on

Now the site provides you with links to other online sources of information on companies in
these countries/regions. Make sure you read the explanatory text provided by taxtracker
before you follow the URL; this might provide crucial user information.
NB: In case you have questions or trouble using the site, you might try to contact Anton Andreasson
from Attack Sweden who has developed the site, email: antona@gmail.com
Using European Business Registration

Go to http://www.ebr.inpi.fr/WAebrcui/controller/Login

Log in:

Name: W5J8T8

password: jaKarta7

Select Country and type company name

Now all the registered subsidiaries of a company in the selected country are listed.
NB: this site allows you to check whether the company you are interested in has subsidiaries in Jersey
(tax haven)
Using European Trademark Registration
To be added

Financing
A multinational is financed by (example: Vattenfall Annual Report 2008, Balance sheet, p. 77):

Shareholders (Equity: Equity attributable to holders of the parent company)

Joint Venture partners (Equity: Equity attributable to minority holders)

Bondholders (Capital securities & part of ‘Other interest bearing liabilities’)

Banks (Part of ‘Other interest bearing liabilities’)

Tax agencies (Deferred tax liabilities & current tax liabilities)

Trading partners (Trade payables and other liabilities)
Further explanations:

Note 33 Capital Securities (p. 97). This probably concerns a loan of a pension fund or a
comparable institution. This loan does not have to be paid back, but interest has to be paid.

Note 33 Other interest bearing liabilities (p. 97)

Banks = Liabilities to credit institutions

Interest bearing provisions (p. 77): This is money that has been reserved for a certain aim. It is
equity that cannot be spend freely.
Example:
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The information can be found in the consolidated balance sheet (liabilities) in the multinational’s
annual report.
Exercise:
Match the information from the example above with the BHP Billiton Annual Report 2007, consolidated
balance sheet & note 19 to the financial statements.
-> Now try to determine the financial structure of another multinational!

Reading the income statement
This section will be added after the tax training of October 2011
(Profit and Loss accounts and how e.g. minority interests participations in associated companies are
calculated in these accounts, how transfer pricing can be identified, deferred tax and possible thin
capitalisation).

Reading the cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows all cash flows of a company in a certain year, allowing for direct
insight into the origins and destinations of the company’s money, e.g. investments, loans, depreciation
and amortisation, pension costs etc. In contrast to the income statement, the cash flow statement is
hard to manipulate.
The cash flow statement is particularly interesting when you want to see how much a company invests
and wherein. A distinction is made between investments in property, plants and equipment, and
investments in intangible assets (e.g. Goodwill, brands, patents)
Example:
An energy company tells you it invests a certain amount of money in sustainable energy. In the Cash
Flow Statement you can see how much the company invests in total in property, plant and equipment,
and therefore allows you to calculate the percentage of total investments that is invested in
sustainable energy.

Analysing corporate income tax
NB: all information needed for the analyses below can be can be found in the income statement of
company.
As a first step in assessing whether a company might be involved in tax reduction or tax avoidance
strategies, is to calculate the corporate income tax a company pays, i.e. the effective tax rate.
An indication of the effective tax rate can be calculated as follows:
income tax expense (i.e. income tax paid by the company) /
profit before tax (i.e.revenue)
To calculate the effective tax rate more accurately, some corrections have to be made (see section
1.6.1.). However, the above approximation is often enough to see whether there is reason for further
investigation. For example, if according to the above calculation, the effective tax rate paid by a Dutch
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company is 25% or less of profit before tax, there is a reason to investigate further, as this can be
regarded a low tax rate (the standard Dutch corporate tax rate is 25,5%).
Explanations for the effective tax rate paid by the company can often be found in the ‘tax
reconciliation’ part of annual reports. This is an explanation of the difference between the expected
(e.g. 25,5% for Dutch companies) and actual effective tax rate. The tax expenses figure in the income
statement is often accompanied by a note number, which refers to a note in the notes pages of the
annual report. You can study the information in this note, and when you are unsatisfied about the
explanation, you can ask the company for further clarification.

Example, using SCA annual report 2008:
On page 62, Note 10 of the SCA annual report tax expenses are explained in detail. Here you can find
that the Group’s effective tax rate was 10.2% in 2008 (while the expected tax rate was 27,7%). In the
note, the extremely low tax rate in 2008 is partly explained by national tax rate changes: “Change in
tax rates in 2008 was attributable to revaluation of deferred taxes due to the reduction of the corporate
tax rate in Sweden. The corresponding revaluation 2007 was attributable to the reduction of corporate
1
tax rates in Germany and Italy.” However, the largest part of the difference between expected tax and
actual tax paid over the past years, is explained by “Effects attributable to internal banking operations”.
As SOMO was performing a quickscan on SCA, this was enough reason to inquire further with the
company. Upon a request for clarification of these internal banking operations, SCA explained that
“Following a reorganisation of the groups treasury function earlier this year, this difference does not
11
exist anymore”. However, the company did not provide any further details on the character of these
internal banking operations.
See Annexes on SCA
Further explanations:

Note 15 Income tax expense (p. 89): ‘Difference in tax rate in foreign operations’ = Difference
because part of the activities and therefore part of tax payments are done in foreign countries.
In these countries another tax rate exists.

Tax reconciliation: Difference between expected and actual effective tax rate (explained in
note in Annual Report).

Example ‘Deferred tax liabilities’: When a company from the US or UK (with a tax of 30%)
makes a profit in the Netherlands (with a tax of 25%), than the company has to pay the
difference when they transfer the profit to the US or UK. The company will state in its annual
report that it paid 30% tax, while the company didn’t really pay it yet, but will pay it in the future
when it transfers the money to the US/UK. Therefore, you explain it in the annual report as
‘Deferred tax liabilities’.

‘Deferred tax credits’: When you make a loss you do not have to pay taxes in that year. In the
following years you can deduct this loss of your tax base in the following years. (for example in
year 1 your loss is -1, in year 2 your profit is +28, then you pay tax over 27 in year 2). If you
know now already that you will make a profit in the future you can put a claim on your balance
sheet (=deferred tax credits) that you have to pay less tax in the future.
Reported tax expense (on income statement)
- Increase in deferred tax liabilities (2008-2007, on balance sheet)
+ Decrease in deferred tax credits (2007-2008, on balance sheet)
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(for an explanation of deferred tax, see Chapter 3 of the Tax Toolkit)

Calculation of effective tax rate including corrections
To calculate the effective tax rate more precisely, you need to make some corrections first.
1. Correcting tax base
Calculation:
1) profit before tax (revenue)
2) + amortization
(Explanation: amortization: marking down of goodwill. This is not tax-deductable, so it should
be added to the profit before tax. Depreciation: Marking down of machines e.d. This is taxdeductable)
3) participations in the net results of associated companies
(explanation: All Joint Venture partners pay tax over the results of the associated companies.
This is not included in the income statement of the Joint Venture partners but it should be
taken into account.)
2. Correcting actual (cash) tax expense:
Calculation:
1) Income tax expense
2) Increase deferred tax liabilities (Tax that possibly has to be paid in the future, but has not been
paid yet)  This is especially relevant for companies from the US and UK because of the
‘credit system’
3) + Increase deferred tax credits (Possible future deductable losses or other tax deductions that
will possibly lead to less tax expenses in the future but that are already included in the
results).
3. Now you can make a more accurate calculation of the effective tax rate:
Actual tax expense (calculated under 2) /
Tax base (calculated under 1)

Consolidated and unconsolidated financial statements
Consolidated accounts
The consolidated accounts are given in the annual reports of multinationals. These are the accounts of
the company as a whole, so the parents company and all its subsidiaries. The shareholders of this
company are external, and the shares are publicly traded on the stock exchange.
The figures given in these accounts include transactions with external parties only, reflecting the total
sales, profits, costs, loans etc. of all subsidiaries together. Often no information is given about data on
individual subsidiaries. This consolidated information is published by the multinational and therefore
easy to find. Sources for consolidated data are:

Free online profiles, e.g. Yahoo: http://finance.yahoo.com/search

Hoovers, S&P, Datamonitor (for publicly listed companies)
Unconsolidated accounts
This concerns information on individual subsidiaries. The shareholders of this company are other
companies of the same multinational or Joint Venture Partners.
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The figures given in these accounts include transactions with other subsidiaries of the same
multinational. This information is only rarely published and therefore difficult to find. Sources for
unconsolidated data are:

Lexis Nexis, Westlaw, Gale/Thomson databases (subscription is necessary, sometimes free
trials are offered: www.gale.com/businessRC)

Other providers, e.g. Goliath: http://goliath.ecnext.comcoms2/page_subscribe_compint
Sources per country are (consolidated or unconsolidated):

Online directory with links for different countries, see http://taxtracker.attac.se

Inlog: taxual

Password: healing

!Please don’t share this password outside your organization!

UK companies house. This source requires registration and payment

Share price and asset value
Difference between share value and asset value:

Share price: The share price indicates the expectations for the future profit of a company.

Equity (Eigen Vermogen): The value of the assets of a company.
The equity is often less than the share value because the sharevalue indicates what a company is
worthwhile the equity indicates what the company has in its possession.
In order to define the financial structure of the company, the share value is not relevant.
NB: aandelenkoersen zijn niet hetzelfde als de waarde van het eigen vermogen van een bedrijf Zie
ook Hoofdstuk 3 van het Corporate Finance boek.

Transfer pricing
Transfer pricing involves determining the prices for sales between different entities within a
multinational. Transfer pricing is a legitimate practice, as long as it is undertaken using the ‘arm’s
length principle’, that is to say, the price should be equivalent to the open market price that would
apply between unrelated and independent companies. However, when two companies trade that are
under common ownership they do not want the best price for the individual company but a price that
creates the best overall result for the multinational corporation to which they belong. The companies
will therefore often allocate the profit between the two subsidiary companies in such a way that a
minimal amount of tax has to be paid. Transfer mispricing is the manipulation of prices of transactions
between subsidiaries of multinationals, or more specifically, the sale of goods and services by
affiliated companies within a multinational corporation to each other at artificially high or low prices.
Reasons for companies to use transfer pricing:
1. Corporation tax: To manipulate where the profit arises, and therefore where corporation tax needs
to be paid.
2. Import/export tariffs: Sell products cheap when there are high export tariffs, and sell product
expensive when there are low export tariffs.
In Comtrade, data on company level cannot be found, only data on country level can be found.
Why use Comtrade:
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To see between which countries trade exists (tax havens?)
To see differences between prices in of a product in different countries.

NB: See Annex “Comtrade presentation” for research on transfer pricing.
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Annex 6: Useful online databases
Company information:

http://www.crocodyl.org/

http://www.reportlinker.com/

http://kvk.nl : annual accounts of Dutch/ Dutch registered companies

You can order the annual accounts yourself from the Chamber of Commerce. Searching the








register is free. To order document, you have to create a free account, see
http://www.kvk.nl/english/traderegister/005_Access_to_the_trade_register/gettingaccesstothet
raderegister/default.asp.
Unfortunately, the register interface is in Dutch only. You'll get some English guidance on how
to use it at
ttp://www.kvk.nl/english/traderegister/005_Access_to_the_trade_register/searchingthetradereg
ister/010searchingthetraderegister38213.asp.
Search for the company you are looking for (eg name search), then for annual accounts clock
on "jaarrekeningen" (this is available for most but not all companies). There are two types of
annual accounts: in standard layout ("standarad"), which will give you only the standard
figures, and the scan of the original deposited document ("origineel"), which provide usually
much more information. (Never mind "gewaarmerkt" - that just adds a stamp.) You'll pay EUR
2.50 per account, but if you call the chamber of commerce, they'll usually be prepared to send
you the scanned version of all available years for some EUR 12 per company, which is a good
deal.
http://www.bhrd.org/fe/advsearch.php?page=database : database of corporate human rights
abuses as well as strategy documents for Civil Society Organisations

Sector information:

www.cbi.eu/marketinfo.
Username: b.slob@somo.nl
Password: keizersgracht

http://www.reportlinker.com/

Financial sector:

www.novares.eu: database of EU decisionmaking with regards to financial sector. Log in
needed.

Export/import data

http://www.infodriveindia.com/: export data for India

http://www.importgenius.com/ : import to US
Shareholders/investors:

Thomson: http://research.thomsonib.com/
SEC filings

http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm
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Annex 7: Lexis Nexis: finding corporate
structures
This annex provides a step-by-step walkthrough for finding information on company structures within
Lexis Nexis. It should be noted that information on corporate structures is often not easy to find or in
some cases not available at all. The type of information which is available depends on the size
(big/small, national/multinational), type (listed/non-listed) and location of the company.

STEP 1: Log in -> see Annex ‘Lexis Nexis news scan’
STEP 2: Assign project ID -> see Annex ‘Lexis Nexis news scan’
Change language
Tip: to change the language of Lexis Nexis, click on the link ‘Preferences’ (‘Instellingen’) in the
upper right corner, on the ‘General’ tab with ‘Regional Display’ you can choose your preferred
language.

Step 3: Select sources
Option 1: On the top left of the screen, click ‘General Search’. In the middle of the screen, click on the
‘Sources’ drop down box, and select the source you want to search. This option is preferred when you
have already searched for similar type of information and have previously stored your preferred
sources (see below).
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Option 2: defining specified sources you want to look through. In the tab ‘Sources’ (upper left), go to
‘Browse Sources’. In the options presented select the following:
1. By -> ‘Subject’
2. Filter by -> ‘Publication type’ -> choose ‘Companies & Organisations’
3. Trail: subject -> click on ‘Company information’
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In ‘Company Information’ you can make a selection of your preferred sources (‘Group Sources’ as well
as ‘Single Sources’), give them a name and store them for future searches. The sources selected will
appear on the right hand side of the screen.

Tip: for an overview of available sources for company information, see the excel sheet provided by
Lexis Nexis on the SOMO server: S:\A. Organisatie\4. Onderzoek\4. Lexis Nexis\Overzichten
bedrijfsinfo in database\Overzicht vergelijking bedrijfsinfo.xls
Click ‘OK – Continue’ and you will be taken back to the general search screen with the sources you
just selected.
1. ‘Search terms’ -> enter the name of the company you are searching for, if necessary also with
Boolean operators (like AND, OR, !, *, etc)
2. ‘Sources’ -> your selected sources appear
3. ‘Specify date’ -> you can narrow your search down defining specific dates you want to include in
your search
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Option 3: look for a company with a pre-selected set of sources compiled by LN.
On the tab ‘Search’, go to the tab ‘Companies’.
1.
‘Company name’ -> enter the company name you are looking for
2.
‘Sources’ -> select the sources you want to look through. Here, ‘Dutch company information’ is
already selected. Unless you want to search for specific regions (Asia/Pacific, Middle East and
Africa, etc), select ‘Company Information - incl. D&B, M&A, bankruptcy’ (last item in the list), this
is the most comprehensive source.
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Step 4: Refine results
Whichever of the above mentioned methods of selecting your sources you have used, you will
probably end up with hundreds of results. To find the information you need, it is essential to narrow
down your results. If you are looking for corporate structures, there are a few sources which provide
the necessary information. For a list of these, see below.
The list of search results will show up in the results screen. On the left side of the screen, you can
narrow down your results by selecting one of the categories listed: ‘Source Type’, ‘Source name’,
‘Subject’, ‘Industry’, etc.
1. Select the category ‘Source Name’
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The most useful sources for information on corporate structures are the following:
1.
Dutch Company Information Ownership Structures (Nederlandse bedrijfsstructuren)
2.
Directory of Corporate Affiliations (-> within the document, click on the link ‘Corporate Hierarchy’
– see screenshot below)
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Figure 1: b. Directory of corporate affiliations

a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.

Dun & Bradstreet's Market Identifiers
D&B Duns Market Identifiers (Non-US)
D&B Duns Market Identifiers Plus (US)
Extel Cards (Thomson Extel) – also information on M&A’s
Hoover's Company Profiles – also info on competitors
Standard & Poor's Corporate Register
Vickers Securities Report
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h.
i.

Vickers Securities Report and Institutional Holdings
Company Profiles and Directories

By looking through the list of sources and clicking on (some of) them, you will get a shorter list of
results within which you can find the required information more easily.

Step 5: Download results and save query -> see Step 6 previous section (‘Lexis Nexis news
scan’)

Recently viewed documents and searches
Tip: if you clicked away from a document which you would like to view again, you don’t have
to search for it again, LN stores it for 48 hours. Go to the tab ‘My Research’ -> ‘History’ ->
‘Recent Documents’ and you will find a list of your recently viewed documents.

Tip: if you want to do a search all over again but with a different company name, go to the tab
‘My Research’ -> ‘History’ -> ‘Recent Searches’ and look for the search you want to do over
again. By clicking on the link ‘Edit’, you will be able to modify the company name in the original
search page.
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Annex 8: Lexis Nexis: search terms for news
scan
Search terms - English news sources
General
accus! or activist or alleg! or boycott! or complain! or conflict or crime or criminal or damag! or
dangerous or destroy! or destruct! or harm! or irresponsible or protest! or scam or scandal! or
unethical or unfair or unjust or unsustainable or whistle blower

Legal
class action or convict! or fined or forbidden or guilty or human rights or illegal or lawsuit or prohibit! or
settle! or verdict or violat! and not expressly prohibited

Labour
accident or bonded or child labor or child labour or dead or died or discriminat! or dismiss! or
emergency or forced labor or forced labour or health problem or illness or injur! or intimidat! or labour
conditions or labor inspection or labour inspection or lay-off or laid off or minimum wage or overtime or
sexual or strike or working conditions

Environment
contaminat! or discharg! or emission or environmental or explod! or groundwater or hazard! or
intoxicated or leak! or poison! or pollut! or spill! or toxic! or waste

Market ethics
abuse! or anti-competitive or anti-trust or bribe! or cartel or collusion or corrupt! or deceive! or decept!
or evade! or evasion or forged or fraud or manipulat! or mislead! or tax avoidance or transfer pricing

Search terms - Dutch news sources
General
aantijging! or activisten or beschuldig! or boycot or conflict! or demonstranten klacht! or klokkenluider
or misda! or onethisch or onverantwoord! or protest! or schade! or schand! or vernietig!

Legal
aanklacht! or boete or illegaal or illegale or mensenrechten or oneerlijk! or onwettig! or overtreedt or
overtred! or overtrad! or rechtszaak or schending! or schendt or geschonden or schik! or verbod! or
vonnis

Labour
arbeidsinspectie or arbeidsomstandigheden or arbeidsrecht! or arbeidswet! or discrimi! or dood or
dwangarbeid or gezondheidsklacht! or gezondheidsproble! or intimid! or kinderarbeid or letsel or
minimumlo! or ongeluk or ongelukken or ongeval! or ontsla! or overleden or overwerk or sexuele or
staakten or staken or staking or vakbondsrecht! or ziek!
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Environment
afval or besmet! or emissie or explosie or explode! or gif! or grondwater or lek or lekte! or lekken! or
loosde! or lozing! or milieu! uitstoot or vergif! or vervuil!

Market ethics
belastingfraude or belastingontduiking or belastingontwijking or bedrog or concurrentievervalsing or
corrupt! or kartel or manipul! or machtsmisbruik or misbruik! or misleid! or omgekocht or omkoping or
ontdoken or ontduikt or oplichting or opgelicht or prijsafsrpa! or steekpenning or transfer pricing or
vervals!

Search terms – Spanish news sources
General
acusa! or acuso or activist! or boycot or conflicto or crimen! or criminal! or daño or dañado dañoso or
deshonrable or destru! or escandalo! or etic! or injusto or insostenible or insustentable or irresponsab!
or peligros! or protest! or quej!

Legal
condena! or culpable or derechos humanos or ilegal! or ley laboral or ley de trabajo or multa! or pleito
or prohibid! or veredicto or viola! or violo

Labour
accidente or cláusula de exclusión or condiciones de trabajo or condiciones laborales or derecho
laboral or despedido or discrinim! or emergencia or enferm! or forzado or forzoso or herid! or huelga or
insaludable or inspección or horas extras or laboral or intimid! or lesion! or muerte or muri! or sexual or
salario mínimo or sindicato amarillo or sindicato blanco or sindicato charro or sindicato corporativo or
sueldo mínimo or trabajo infantil

Environment
agua subterránea or contamin! or derram! or descarg! or desperdicio or envenen! or intoxic! or medio
ambient! or medioambient! or explosion! or toxic! or veneno!

Market ethics
abus! or anticompetitivo or colusión or corrup! or desfraud! or engañ! or evad! or fraud! or manipul! or
mordido or soborn! o perjudic! or transfer pricing

Search terms – tax havens (search in NL + intl company info)
anguilla or barbuda or aruba or bahamas or bahr*in or bermuda or virgin islands or maagdeneilanden
or cayman or kaaiman or cook islands or cyprus or dominica or gibraltar or grenada or guernsey or
isle of man or jersey or malta or mauritius or montserrat or nauru or antille* or niue or panama or
samoa or marino or seychelles or st lucia or saint lucia or nevis or grenadines or caicos or vanuatu or
andorra or liberia or liechtenstein or marshall islands or marshall eilanden or monaco and not new
jersey
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Annex 9: Project Evaluation Form
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